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United States Securities
and Exchange Commission
450 Fifth Street, N.W.
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

Dear Sirs

Enclosed herewith for your information pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 is a copy of an announcement released today.

Yours faithfully

éw

D A. WYLIE .
COMPANY SECRETARY PROCESEF
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COCA-COLA AMATIL LIMITED
ABN 26 004 139 397
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Postal Address:
GPO Box 145
Sydney NSW 2001
AUSTRALIA
Telephone: 612 9259 6387
Facsimile: 612 9259 6233

13 May 2003

Company Announcements Office
Australian Stock Exchange Limited
Exchange Centre

20 Bridge Street

SYDNEY NSW 2000

Dear Sirs

Coca-Cola Amatil ("CCA") has today sent its bidder's statement and offers in relation to all of the
ordinary shares in Neverfail Springwater Limited.

We enclose, in accordance with item 8 of Section 633(1) of the Corporations Act, a notice from
CCA as stated above.

We also enclose a copy of the bidder's statement and offer documents which CCA is required to
send to ASX under section 633(1C) of the Corporations Act.

Yours faithfully

%w D.A. WYLIE

COMPANY SECRETARY

COCA-COLA AMATIL LIMITED
ABN 26 004 139 397
71 Macquarie Street
Sydney NSW 2000
AUSTRALIA



NOTICE THAT BIDDER'S STATEMENT AND OFFERS HAVE BEEN SENT
(CORPORATIONS ACT SUBSECTION 633(1), ITEMS 6-9)

COCA-COLA AMATIL LIMITED, ACN 004 139 397 - TAKEOVER
BID FOR NEVERFAIL SPRINGWATER LIMITED ACN 003 559 519

Coca-Cola Amatil Limited hereby gives notice that its bidder's statement and offers in relation to all of
the ordinary shares in Neverfail Springwater Limited have been sent as required by Item 6 of section
633(1) of the Corporations Act. The date of the offers is 13 May 2003. This notice includes a copy of the
bidder's statement containing the offers referred to above.

Dated: 13 May 2003

M.F. Thlein
Director
Coca-Cola Amatil Limited

SYDWORKDOCS\2822\3255177.1
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How to accept
Acceptances must be received before the end of the Offer Penod There are different ways
to accept the Offer depending on the type of you; holdmg A :
CHESS Holdings of Neverfail Shares L e s :

For CHESS Holdings of Neverfail Shares, please mstru(:t y0ur stockbroker or CHESS
Controlling Participant to initiate acceptance of the Offer on your behalf.

F

Issuer Sponsored Holdings of Neverfail Shares

For Issuer Sponsored Holdings of Neverfail Shares, please complete and execute the enclosed
Acceptance Form in accordance with the instructions onithe Acceptance Form and in section
5.11 of this Bidder's Statement and return it to Coca-Cola Amatil Takeover Offer,
Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited, GPO Box-7115; Sydney, New South Wales, 1115.
A reply paid envelope has been enclosed for slnreholde. with Australian addresses to return
their completed Acceptance Form. PP i -

Acceptance Forms may also be delivered by hand to Coca- Cola Amatxl Takeover Offer.
Computershare Investor Services Pty L:mlted Level 3 60 Carrmgton Street, Sydney,
New South Wales, 2000. R '

Overseas shareholders should return thelr Acceptance Form by axrmaﬂ

e

Enquiries SR RIS

Should you have any quesnons about tius Offex or how to accépt it, please call the shareholder
information line on 1300 135 842 at 1ocal call rates fi rogn thhm Australia or +61 3 9615 5970

from outside Australia.

recorded.
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Coca-Cora AMATIL
cer

GPO Box 145
Sydney NSW 2001
AUSTRALIA

Letter from the Chairman of Coca-Cola Amatil Limited
Dear Neverfail shareholder

I have pleasure in enclosing an offer by Coca-Cola Amatil Limited (“CCA") to acquire all of your
shares in Neverfail Springwater Limited (“Neverfail”).

CCA''s offer is $2.25 in cash for each Neverfail share.
The offer price of $2.25 per Neverfail share represents a premium of:

22% to the closing price of Neverfail shares of $1.85 on the day before the announcement of
the offer by CCA on 29 April 2003;

23% to the volume-weighted average share price of Neverfail of $1.83 during the month prior
to the announcement of the offer by CCA on 29 April 2003; and

31% to the volume-weighted average share price of Neverfail of $1.71 during the period
between 26 February 2003 (the date Neverfail released its results for the six months ended 31
December 2002) and the announcement of the offer by CCA on 29 April 2003.

The offer price represents a multiple of 22.4 times Neverfail’s reported earnings per share, and 20.6
times Neverfail's reported earnings per share (before goodwill amortisation), for the year ended 30
June 2002. This is an attractive premium to the average price earnings multiples (before goodwill
amortisation) of the All Industrials (ex Financials)* and the Small Industrials (ex Financials)*, of 16.6
times and 13.7 times respectively, for the same period.

CCA has already acquired 14.85% of the Neverfail shares at the offer price of $2.25 per share
through sales on the stock market by institutional shareholders in Neverfail on 28 April 2003. CCA
considers that these sales demonstrate the attractiveness of its offer price.

The offer is subject to a number of conditions which are set out in this document, including CCA
having received valid acceptances for at least 30% of Neverfail shares.

The offer is scheduled to close at 7.00pm AEST time on 13 June 2003. To accept this offer please
follow the instructions set out on the inside front cover of this document.

If you have any questions about the offer, please don't hesitate to contact your broker or financial
adviser, or call the shareholder information line on 1300 135 842 from within Australia or

+61 3 9615 5970 from outside Australia. In accordance with legal requirements, calls to these
numbers will be recorded.

Yours sincerely

S, A

David Gonski AO

Chairman

Coca-Cola Amatil Limited

* Prepared by UBS Warburg Australia Equities Limited and described further in Annexure C to the Bidder's Statement.

COCA-COLA AMATIL LIMITED
ABN 26 004 139 397
71 Macquarie Street
Sydney NSW 2000
AUSTRALIA
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Bidder's Statement relating to a cash offer from Coca-Cola Amatil Limited, ABN 26 004 139 397 to
acquire all the shares in Neverfail Springwater Limited, ABN 43 003 559 519

This document is the Bidder's Statement given by CCA to Neverfail under part 6.5 of chapter 6 of the
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) and in compliance with the requirements of sections 636 and 637 of the
Corporations Act, in relation to the Offer contained in section 5 of this Bidder's Statement.

Australian Securities and Investments Commission

A copy of this Bidder's Statement was lodged with the Australian Securities and Investments Commission
(“ASIC”) on 29 April 2003. Neither ASIC nor any of its officers takes any responsibility for the content of
this Bidder's Statement.

Investment decision

This Bidder's Statement does not take into account the individual investment objectives, financial situation
and particular needs of each Neverfail shareholder. You may wish to seek independent financial and
taxation advice before making a decision as to whether or not to accept the Offer for your Neverfail Shares,
as contained in section 5 of this Bidder's Statement.

Defined terms

A number of defined terms are used in this Bidder's Statement. Their meaning is set out in section 9 of this
Bidder's Statement.
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1. Summary of the Offer and how to accept it

This summary provides an overview of the Offer and should be read together with the detailed
information set out in the remainder of this Bidder's Statement.

The Bidder
The Offer
Offer price

Conditions to
the Offer

Scheduled close
of the Offer

How to accept
the Offer

Payment terms

Offer hotline

Coca-Cola Amatil Limited (ABN 26 004 139 397) (“CCA")
CCA is offering to acquire all Your Neverfail Shares.
CCA is offering $2.25 in cash for each of Your Neverfail Shares.

The Offer is subject to a number of conditions which are set out in full in
section 5.4 of this Bidder's Statement. In summary form, the conditions to the Offer are:

. approval by the Foreign Investment Review Board,;

. CCA and its associates having a relevant interest in at least 90% of the number of
Neverfail Shares on issue;

. no orders being made by, or applications made to, a Public Authority which
restrain or prohibit, or otherwise materially adversely impact upon the Offer or
the completion of any transaction contemplated by the Offer;

. no Prescribed Occurrence occurring in relation to Neverfail; and

. no change, event or condition occurring, been announced, or becoming known to
CCA which has had, or is reasonably likely to have, a material adverse effect on
the Neverfail Group.

The Offer is scheduled to close at 7.00 pm Sydney time on 13 June 2003, unless
extended in accordance with the Corporations Act.

You may only accept the Offer in respect of all of Your Neverfail Shares.
To accept the Offer:

. for CHESS Holdings of Neverfail Shares, instruct your stockbroker or CHESS
Controlling Participant to initiate acceptance of the Offer on your behalf.

. for Issuer Sponsored Holdings of Neverfail Shares, complete, sign and return the
enclosed Acceptance Form in accordance with the instructions. A reply paid
envelope has been enclosed for shareholders with Australian addresses to return
their completed Acceptance Form. Overseas shareholders should return their
Acceptance Form by airmail.

. if you are a Broker or Non-Broker Participant, acceptance of this Offer must be
initiated in accordance with Rule 16.3 of the SCH Business Rules before the end of
the Offer Period.

You will be paid for Your Neverfail Shares within 7 days after the later of the date you
accept the Offer and the date the Offer becomes unconditional.

Should you have any questions about this Offer or how to accept the Offer, please
contact the shareholder information line on 1300 135 842 at local call rates from within
Australia or +61 3 9615 5970 from outside Australia or consult your Broker or other
financial or professional advisor. Please note that, in accordance with legal requirements,
calls to the shareholder information line will be recorded.
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2. Why you should accept the Offer

2.1 The Offer price represents an attractive premium to recent trading prices

The Offer price of $2.25 per Neverfail Share represents an attractive premium of:

22% to the closing price of Neverfail Shares of $1.85 on the day before the
Announcement Date;

23% to the volume-weighted average share price of Neverfail of $1.83 during the month
prior to the Announcement Date; and

31% to the volume-weighted average share price of Neverfail of $1.71 during the period
between 26 February 2003 (the date Neverfail released its results for the six months
ended 31 December 2002 and restated its earnings guidance for the year ending 30 June
2003) and the Announcement Date.

$2.50 Offer price of $2.25 per Neverfail share
$2.00 Premium = 22% Premium = 23% Premium = 31%
$1.50
$1.00
$0.50
$0.00
Closing share 1 month Volume-weighted
price 28 April 2003 volume-weighted average share price

average share price since 26 February 2003
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2.2 The Offer price represents an attractive multiple of historic and forecast earnings

The Offer price represents a multiple of 22.4 times Neverfail's reported earnings per share, and
20.6 times Neverfail's reported earnings per share (before goodwill amortisation), for the year
ended 30 June 2002. This is an attractive premium to the average price earnings multiples
{before goodwill amortisation) of the All Industrials (ex Financials) and the Small Industrials
(ex Financials)', of 16.6 times and 13.7 times respectively, for the same period.

Price earnings multiples
2002 reported earnings per share (before goodwill amortisation)
Calculated as at the close of trade on 28 April 2003

22.0x

20.6x

20.0x

18.0x

16.0x
14.0x
12.0x
10.0x
CCA Offer Al Industrials Small Industries

{ex Financials) (ex Financiais)

The Offer price also represents a multiple of 17.2 times earnings per share, and 16.0 times earnings
per share (before goodwill amortisation)?, represented by the midpoint of the range of forecast net
profit after tax for the year ending 30 June 2003 for Neverfail (as stated in Neverfail's half-year
report for the six months ended 31 December 2002, a copy of which was released to the ASX on 26
February 2003 and is annexed in Annexure A to this Bidder's Statement).

! The All Industrials (ex Financials) and the Small Industrials (ex Financials) are prepared by UBS Warburg Australia Equities Limited
and are described further in Annexure C to this Bidder's Statement.

¢ The amount of goodwill amortisation used for this calculation is $894,000, being the annualised amount of goodwill amortisation
contained in Neverfail's half-year report for the six month period ended 31 December 2002.
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23 You wili receive cash for your shares and incur no brokerage charges
By accepting the Offer:

. you will receive (subject to the conditions of the Offer being satisfied or waived) $2.25
cash per Neverfail Share;

. you will be paid within 7 days after the later of the date you accept the Offer and the
date the Offer becomes unconditional; and

. you will not incur any brokerage charges by accepting the Offer from CCA (you may
incur brokerage costs and GST on those costs if you choose to sell your Neverfail Shares
on the market).

2.4 CCA holds a strategic stake in Neverfail

CCA has already acquired 14.85% of the Neverfail Shares at the Offer price of $2.25 per share
through sales on the stock market by institutional shareholders in Neverfail on 28 April 2003.

CCA considers that these sales demonstrate the attractiveness of its Offer price.

CCA regards its current shareholding, and any further Neverfail Shares it may acquire, as a
strategic investment, consistent with its previously stated strategic objective of becoming a
broader based beverage company.

2.5 Neverfail's share price is likely to fall in the absence of CCA's Offer

If CCA's Offer does not proceed, and no other takeover offers are made for Neverfail Shares, it is
likely that Neverfail Shares would trade at a substantial discount to the Offer price.

At the Announcement Date, CCA's Offer was the only takeover offer that had been made for
Neverfail Shares.
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3.1

3.2

The Bidder

Coca-Cola Amatil

CCA and its subsidiaries carry on the operations of the CCA Group which principally involves
the manufacture, distribution and marketing of carbonated soft drinks, mineral and still waters,
fruit juices and other alcohol-free beverages.

CCA is the leading supplier of non-alcoholic carbonated beverages in Australia, New Zealand,
Papua New Guinea, Fiji, South Korea and Indonesia. Recognising that markets, customers and
consumer tastes are changing, CCA is adapting to that change by moving from being
predominantly a carbonated soft drink business to a broader based beverage company.

CCA manufactures, distributes and sells beverages, including the products of

The Coca-Cola Company, as well as its own brands. CCA is the principal Coca-Cola franchisee in
Australia, Papua New Guinea and Indonesia plus the sole Coca-Cola franchisee in New Zealand,
Fiji and South Korea. It is the sole Schweppes franchisee for New Zealand, Papua New Guinea,
Fiji, South Korea and Indonesia.

CCA works closely with The Coca-Cola Company, utilising their respective skills and assets, to
build consumption and create a sustainable growth strategy which delivers improved returns to
CCA. By being part of the Coca-Cola system (comprising The Coca-Cola Company and its
bottling partners), CCA has access to some of the world’s most popular branded beverages
supported by strong advertising and unique marketing properties.

Key brands sold and distributed by CCA in Australia include ‘Coca-Cola’, ‘Vanilla Coke’, 'diet
Coke’, 'Fanta’, ‘Sprite’, ‘Lift’, ‘Lift Plus’, 'POWER&DE’, ‘pump’ and ‘Fruitopia’ (which are owned
by The Coca-Cola Company), and ‘Mount Franklin’, ‘Kirks" and ‘Deep Spring’ (which are owned
by CCA).

CCA, with a market capitalisation of approximately $3.9 billion on 28 April 2003, forms part of the
S&P/ASX 50 Index.

CCA's largest shareholder is The Coca-Cola Company, holding approximately 35% of its ordinary
shares on issue, with the balance primarily held by major Australian and overseas institutions
and Australian retail investors. Two of CCA's eight member board of directors are nominated by
The Coca-Cola Company.

Directors of CCA
The following are the directors of CCA as at the date of this Bidder's Statement.
David M Gonski AO, Chairman

Joined the Board in October 1997 - Chairperson of the CCA Related Party Committee.
Background: Solicitor for 10 years with the law firm of Freehills and thereafter a corporate adviser
in the firm of Wentworth Associates, now part of the Investec group. Degree: Bachelors of Law
and Commerce from The University of New South Wales. Other Listed Company Boards:
Australian and New Zealand Banking Group Ltd; John Fairfax Holdings Ltd; Westfield Holdings Ltd.
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Jillian R Broadbent, Non-Executive Director

Joined the Board in February 1999 - Chairperson of the CCA Audit, Risk & Compliance
Committee, member of the CCA Compensation Committee and member of the CCA Related Party
Committee. Background: Extensive experience in international banking, principally with Bankers
Trust Australia, advising a wide range of corporate clients on risk management. Degree: Bachelor
of Arts {major in Economics and Mathematics) from The University of Sydney. Other Listed
Company Boards: Westfield America Management Ltd; Westfield Management Ltd; Woodside
Petroleum Ltd.

Wal M King AM, Non-Executive Director

Joined the Board in February 2002 - Member of the CCA Related Party Committee. Background:
Worked in the construction industry for almost 35 years and since 1987 has been the Chief
Executive Officer of Leighton Holdings Ltd, a company with substantial operations in Australia
and Asia. Degree: Bachelor of Engineering; Master of Engineering Science and Honorary Doctor
of Science from The University of New South Wales. Other Listed Company Boards: Leighton
Holdings Ltd.

Mel K Ward AO, Non-Executive Director

Joined the Board in February 1999 - Chairperson of the CCA Compensation Committee, member
of the CCA Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee and member of the CCA Related Party
Committee. Background: A Company Director since February 1992 when retired as Managing
Director of Telecom Australia and Chairman of Telecom Australia {International) Ltd. Degree:
Bachelor of Engineering (Honours) and Master of Engineering Science from Queensland
University. Other Listed Company Boards: Pro Medicus Limited (Chairman); AXA Asia Pacific
Holdings Ltd; Transfield Services Ltd; West Australian Newspapers Ltd.

Terry J Davis, Managing Director

Appointed as Managing Director in November 2001 - Member of the CCA Compensation
Committee (other than for matters relating to his own compensation). Background: Joined CCA in
November 2001 after 14 years in the global wine industry and most recently as the Managing
Director of Beringer Blass (the wine division of Foster’s Group Ltd).

Michael F Ihlein, Chief Financial Officer

Appointed as Chief Financial Officer (CFO) in February 1997. Background: Joined CCA in 1978
and was Managing Director of CCA Poland immediately prior to appointment as CFO in 1997,
Degree: Bachelor in Business Studies and a Diploma from the Securities Institute of Australia.

James E Chestnut, Non-Executive Director

Rejoined the Board in December 2001 - Member of the CCA Audit, Risk & Compliance
Committee. Background: President, PacificRim Group, of The Coca-Cola Company with more
than 30 years experience in the Coke System, mainly in Finance roles. Degree: Bachelor of
Accountancy from the University of Glasgow and a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants.

Henry A Schimberg, Non-Executive Director

Joined the Board in February 2000 - Member of the CCA Compensation Committee. Background:
Retired as President and Chief Executive Officer of Coca-Cola Enterprises on 31 December 1999
after a 41 year career in the soft drink industry. Degree: Bachelor of Arts from Beloit College.
Other Listed Company Boards: Panamerican Beverages, Inc (Vice Chairman); Coca-Cola Hellenic
Bottling Company.
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4.1

4.2

43

CCA's intentions

Intentions on conclusion of the Offer

The following sections set out CCA's intentions on the basis of facts and information concerning
Neverfail and the circumstances affecting the business of Neverfail which are known to CCA at
the time of preparation of this Bidder's Statement.

Any final decision on these matters will only be reached in the light of all material facts and
circumstances at the relevant time and once CCA has had an opportunity to conduct a detailed
review of the operations of Neverfail as referred to in section 4.3. Accordingly, the statements set
out in the following sections are statements of current intention only which may vary as new
information becomes available or circumstances change.

Compulsory acquisition of Neverfail Shares
(a) Compulsory acquisition following Takeover Bid

If CCA becomes entitled to proceed to compulsory acquisition of shares in Neverfail
following the Offer under part 6A.1 of the Corporations Act (as a result of the
acquisition of Neverfail Shares under the Offer or otherwise), then CCA intends to
proceed to compulsory acquisition of shares in Neverfail in accordance with the
provisions of the Corporations Act.

(b) General compulsory acquisition

Even if CCA does not become entitled to proceed to compulsory acquisition of shares in
Neverfail, following the Offer under part 6A.1 of the Corporations Act, it may
nevertheless be or become entitled to exercise general compulsory acquisition rights
under part 6A.2 of the Corporations Act. If so, CCA intends to exercise such rights.

Intentions upon ownership of 100% of Neverfail

If CCA comes to own 100% of the issued ordinary shares in Neverfail, its intentions are described below.

(a) Corporate matters

CCA intends to:

. seek to have Neverfail removed from the official list of ASX; and

. replace the majority of the current directors of Neverfail with nominees of CCA.
(b Head office and administration and employees

Except for changes resulting from the combination of Neverfail's corporate head office
functions with those of CCA's discussed below, the terms of employment of Neverfail
employees, and their existing reporting structures, are expected to remain unchanged.

Neverfail's corporate head office functions, such as company secretarial and in-house
legal, risk management, treasury, financial management and insurance will be combined
with those of CCA and centralised in Sydney. CCA will seek to allocate alternative
responsibilities to any employees currently employed within the head office functions
and whose employment will no longer be required as a result of this centralisation. If this
is not possible, then CCA expects that such employees would be made redundant and
would be paid the payments and other benefits to which they are entitled as a result.
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CCA commits significant expenditure every year to staff development and intends to
continue to do the same within the enlarged group in order to ensure that the highest
standards are maintained. CCA will also seek to extend, to the combined group, the
career path development programmes which have been successfully implemented
within CCA's business.

CCA makes available to its employees a range of employee benefits including career
development, educational opportunities, incentive plans and share plans. CCA intends
to make these benefits available to continuing Neverfail employees upon satisfaction of
applicable qualifying conditions.

Neverfail's business

Neverfail's principal activities consist of the sourcing, bottling and delivery of spring

- water to domestic and corporate customers.

CCA intends to conduct a strategic review of Neverfail's business (in conjunction with
Neverfail management currently responsible for those operations). The primary
purposes of the review will be to:

. determine the most effective and efficient manner, using CCA's experience in
major retail account management, of distributing Neverfail's brands to CCA's
current customer groups of major foodstores, convenience and petroleum stores;

. examine the potential to utilise, and/or develop further, Neverfail's
manufacturing capacity to supplement CCA's existing water production;

. examine the opportunities to apply best practices to Neverfail's business; and

. identify other areas of potential cost savings by taking advantage of CCA's scale
in purchasing and procurement, manufacturing, logistics and information systems.

CCA considers Neverfail's business as core holdings and, subject to any changes
resulting from the outcome of the review referred to above, intends to continue these
operations as they are currently conducted.

Participation by The Coca-Cola Company

Prior to the date of this Bidder's Statement, CCA held discussions with

The Coca-Cola Company in relation to The Coca-Cola Company's potential participation
in Neverfail's business. The nature of the arrangements discussed between CCA and
The Coca-Cola Company is consistent with the current relationship between CCA and
The Coca-Cola Company whereby The Coca-Cola Company owns the trade marks
which are licensed to CCA and CCA bottles, distributes and sells the finished beverages.
CCA intends that The Coca-Cola Company will acquire Neverfail's trade marks and
associated intellectual property from Neverfail and enter a bottler's agreement with
CCA in respect of Neverfail's brands pursuant to which:

. The Coca-Cola Company would licence CCA to manufacture, distribute and
market the Neverfail brands in Australia for a period of no less than 10 years;

. CCA would make ongoing periodic payments to The Coca-Cola Company under
the bottler's agreement; and

. The Coca-Cola Company would provide consumer marketing and research
in relation to Neverfail's brands.
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4.4

4.5

The acquisition by The Coca-Cola Company of Neverfail's trade marks and associated
intellectual property is conditional upon the negotiation of an appropriate sale and
purchase agreement and upon the board of directors of The Coca-Cola Company
approving such purchase. The amount to be paid by The Coca-Cola Company for the
purchase of Neverfail's trade marks and associated intellectual property and the
ongoing periodic payments by CCA to The Coca-Cola Company under the bottler's
agreement are yet to be finalised. However CCA expects the purchase price for
Neverfail's trade marks and associated intellectual property to be no more than
$45,000,000. CCA also expects that the ongoing periodic payments by CCA to

The Coca-Cola Company under the bottler's agreement will be at a level that allows
both CCA and The Coca-Cola Company to achieve similar returns on their respective
investments within similar time frames. It is the current intention of CCA that the
proceeds of the sale of Neverfail's trade marks and associated intellectual property to
The Coca-Cola Company will be applied to reduce existing Neverfail debt.

Intentions in relation to Neverfail Options

The Offer extends to Neverfail Shares which are issued prior to the end of the Offer Period
as a result of Neverfail Options being exercised.

If at the end of the Offer Period CCA has become entitled to proceed to compulsory acquisition
of Neverfail Shares then CCA intends to deal with any Neverfail Options which have not been
exercised as at that time by either:

(a)

(b)

having those Neverfail Options cancelled in consideration of the payment of a
cancellation fee to the holders of the Neverfail Options; or

compulsorily acquiring those Neverfail Options under part 6A.2 of the Corporations
Act.

Other intentions

Other than as set out in sections 4.1 to 4.4, it is the present intention of CCA:

to continue to operate the business of Neverfail;

not to make any major changes to the business of Neverfail nor to redeploy any of the
fixed assets of Neverfail; and

to continue the employment of Neverfail's present employees.
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5.2
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5.4

Terms of the Offer

This section contains the terms of the offer by CCA to acquire all of Your Neverfail Shares. The
date of the Offer is 13 May 2003.

The Offer

CCA offers to acquire from you on the terms of the Offer all of Your Neverfail Shares. This
includes any Neverfail Shares which become registered in your name in the period from the
Record Date until the end of the Offer Period by virtue of an issue to you of Neverfail Shares in
that period pursuant to the exercise of Neverfail Options.

You may accept the Offer only in respect of all of Your Neverfail Shares.

It is a term of the Offer that CCA will be entitled to all Rights attaching to or arising from
Neverfail Shares acquired by CCA pursuant to the Offer.

Consideration

Subject to this section 5, the consideration under the Offer is a cash payment of $2.25 for each
Neverfail Share.

Benefit of improved consideration

If CCA improves the consideration offered, the Corporations Act contains provisions to ensure
that any Neverfail shareholder who has already accepted the Offer receives the benefit of the
improved consideration.

Conditions of the Offer

{a) Subject to section 5.4(e), the Offer and any contract arising from acceptance of the Offer
is subject to the fulfilment of the following conditions:

() Foreign Investment Review Board approval
Ore of the following occurring:

A.  The Treasurer advising CCA before the end of the Offer Period to the effect
that there are no objections to the Takeover Bid in terms of the Federal
Government's foreign investment policy; or

B.  no order being made in relation to the Takeover Bid under section 22 of the
Foreign Acquisitions and Takeovers Act 1875 within a period of 40 days
after CCA has notified the Treasurer that it proposes to acquire shares
under the Takeover Bid, and no notice being given by the Treasurer to CCA
during that period to the effect that there are any such objections; or

C.  where an order is made under section 22 of the Foreign Acquisitions and
Takeovers Act 1975, a period of 90 days having expired after the order
comes into operation and no notice having been given by the Treasurer to
CCA during that period to the effect that there are any such objections.

(i) Minimum acceptance condition

That during or at the end of the Offer Period, CCA and its associates have
relevant interests in that number of Neverfail Shares which is equal to at least 30%
of the number of Neverfail Shares then on issue.
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(iif)

No restraining orders
That between the Announcement Date and the end of the Offer Period:

A.  there is not in effect any preliminary or final decision, order or decree
issued by a Public Authority; or

B. no application is made to any Public Authority (other than by any member
of the CCA Group), or action or investigation is announced, threatened or
commenced by a Public Authority in consequence of or in connection with
the Offer,

(other than a determination by ASIC or the Takeovers Panel in exercise of the
powers and discretions conferred by the Corporations Act) which restrains or
prohibits (or if granted could restrain or prohibit), or otherwise materially
adversely impacts upon, the making of the Offer or the completion of any
transaction contemplated by the Offer (whether subject to condition or not) or the
rights of CCA in respect of Neverfail and the Neverfail Shares to be acquired
under the Offer, or requires the divestiture by CCA of any Neverfail Shares, or the
divestiture of any assets of the Neverfail Group or of the CCA Group or otherwise.

Prescribed Occurrences

That between the Announcement Date and the end of the Offer Period, no
Prescribed Occurrence occurs, other than an issue of Neverfail Shares on the
exercise of Neverfail Options.

Material adverse change to Neverfail

Before the end of the Offer Period there not having occurred, been announced or
becoming known to CCA (whether or not becoming public) any event, change or
condition which has had, or is reasonably likely to have, a material adverse effect
on the operations, assets or liabilities, material contracts {taken as a whole),
business or condition (financial or otherwise), profitability or prospects of the
Neverfail Group (taken as a whole) since 30 June 2002 (except for such events,
changes or conditions disclosed in public filings by Neverfail or any of its
subsidiaries prior to 23 April 2003 and any event, change or condition that may
arise as a consequence of the announcement or consummation of the Offer),
including where it becomes known to CCA that information publicly filed by
Neverfail or any of its subsidiaries, is or is likely to be incomplete, incorrect or
untrue or misleading.

Each of the conditions in section 5.4(a) is a separate and distinct condition, shall not be

taken to limit the meaning or effect of any other condition, and shall not merge on
completion of any contract arising from acceptance of the Offer.

Each of the conditions set out in section 5.4(a) (other than section 5.4(a)(i)) is a condition

subsequent. The condition set out in section 5.4(a)(i) is a condition precedent and

accordingly no contract to sell Neverfail Shares arises from acceptance of this Offer until
the condition set out in section 5.4(a) (i) has been satisfied or the Offer has been declared

free from that condition.

The breach or non-fulfilment of any such condition (other than section 5.4(a)(i)) does not
prevent a contract to sell any of Your Neverfail Shares resulting from acceptance of the

Offer, but if:
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5.5

5.6

(i  CCA has not declared all Offers to be free from the conditions in section 5.4(a)
before the date applicable under subsection 650 F(1) of the Corporations Act; and

(i)  the conditions in section 5.4(a) have not been fulfilled at the end of the Offer
Period,

all contracts resulting from the acceptance of Offers and all acceptances that have not
resulted in binding contracts are void. In such a case, CCA will:

(iii)  return the Acceptance Form (if any) together with all documents forwarded by
you to the address shown in the Acceptance Form; and

(iv) notify SCH of the lapse of the Offer in accordance with Rule 16.8 of the SCH
Business Rules.

(d) Subject to the provisions of the Corporations Act, CCA alone shall be entitled to the
benefit of the conditions in section 5.4(a) and any non-fulfilment of such conditions may
be relied upon only by CCA.

(e) Subject to section 650F of the Corporations Act, CCA may, at any time at its sole
discretion, declare all Offers free from all or any of the conditions referred to in section
5.4(a) by giving notice in writing to Neverfail. This notice may be given in relation to the
conditions in:

{) section 5.4(a) (other than section 5.4(a)(iv)), not later than 7 days before the end of
the Offer Period; and

(ii)  section 5.4(a)(iv), not later than 3 business days after the end of the Offer Period.

0 The date for giving the notice required by section 630(3) of the Corporations Act on the
status of the conditions to the Offer is 6 June 2003, subject to variation in accordance
with section 630(2) of the Corporations Act if the period during which the Offer remains
open for acceptance is extended.

Offer Period

Unless the period is extended in accordance with this section or the Offer is withdrawn in
accordance with the Corporations Act, the Offer will remain open for acceptance during the
period commencing on the date of the Offer and ending at 7.00 pm (Sydney time) on 13 June 2003.

CCA expressly reserves its right under section 650C of the Corporations Act, exercisable in its sole
discretion, to extend the period during which the Offer remains open for acceptance or otherwise
to vary the Offer in accordance with the Corporations Act.

If within the last 7 days of the Offer Period the Offer is varied to improve the consideration
offered or if within the last 7 days of the Offer Period CCA's voting power in Neverfail increases
to more than 50%, then in either case the Offer Period will be automatically extended in
accordance with section 624(2) of the Corporations Act, so that it ends 14 days after the relevant
event.

Withdrawal of Offer

In accordance with section 652B of the Corporations Act, the Offer may only be withdrawn with
the written consent of ASIC which consent may be given subject to such conditions (if any) as are
specified in the consent of ASIC. If that happens, CCA will send a notice of withdrawal to

. Neverfail and to each person to whom the Offer has been made.
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5.7

5.8

Variation of Offer

CCA may at any time, and from time to time, vary the Offer in accordance with part 6.6 of chapter
6 of the Corporations Act.

Payment of consideration

(a)

{0

Subject to the provisions below of this section 5.8 and the Corporations Act, if you
accept the Offer and the conditions of the Offer and of the contract resulting from the
acceptance of the Offer are satisfied or are waived, then CCA will provide the
consideration for Your Neverfail Shares within 7 days after the later of the date the Offer
is validly accepted by you in accordance with the Offer and the date the contract which
results from your acceptance of the Offer becomes unconditional.

Under no circumstances will interest be paid on the consideration payable under the
Offer, regardless of any delay in paying the consideration or any extension of the Offer.

Payment of the cash amount to which you are entitled by acceptance of this Offer will be
made by cheque in Australian currency. The cheque will be sent at your risk by prepaid
ordinary mail or, in the case of addressees outside Australia, by prepaid airmail, to the
address shown on the Acceptance Form.

If at the time you accept this Offer you are:

()  the Government of Iraq, an agency associated with the Government of Iraq or a
national of Iraq;

(i)  a person or entity associated with the former Milosevic Government of the
Federal Republic of Yugoslavia as named in the instrument dated 5 April 2002
issued under the Australian Banking (Foreign Exchange) Regulations;

(iif)  a person or entity associated with the Government of Zimbabwe, as named in the
annexure to the instrument of 25 November 2002 issued under the Australian
Banking (Foreign Exchange Regulations); or

{iv) aresident in or a resident of a place outside Australia to which the Australian
Banking (Foreign Exchange) Regulations otherwise apply,

you will not be entitled to receive any cash payment under this Offer until all requisite
authorities and clearances of the Reserve Bank of Australia (whether under the
Australian Banking (Foreign Exchange) Regulations or otherwise) or of the Australian
Taxation Office have been obtained by CCA. CCA undertakes to make prompt
application for all such authorities or clearances.

In addition, accounts of persons and entities identified by the Minister of Foreign Affairs
as being associated with terrorism are frozen, and transactions with these entities are
prohibited, under the Charter of the United Nations (Anti-Terrorism Measures)
Regulations 2001.

Where the Acceptance Form requires any additional documents to be delivered with
your Acceptance Form (such as a power of attorney) then:

(i)  if those documents are delivered with your Acceptance Form, CCA will provide
the consideration in accordance with section (a);

(i)  if those documents are delivered after your Acceptance Form and before the end
of the Offer Period while the Offer is subject to a defeating condition, CCA will
provide the consideration within 7 days after the Offer becomes unconditional.
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5.9

5.10

(iii)  if those documents are delivered after your Acceptance Form and before the end
of the Offer Period while the Offer is unconditional, CCA will provide the
consideration within 7 days after those document are delivered.

(iv)  if those documents are delivered after the end of the Offer Period while the Offer
is unconditional, CCA will provide the consideration within 7 days after those
documents are delivered; and

(v)  if those documents are delivered after the end of the Offer Period while the Offer
is subject to a defeating condition that relates only to the happening of a
Prescribed Occurrence, CCA will provide the consideration within 7 days after the
Offer becomes unconditional.

Brokerage fees and other expenses

All costs and expenses of the preparation of this Bidder's Statement and of the preparation and
circulation of the Offer will be paid by CCA. You will not be liable to pay any stamp duty on the
transfer of Neverfail Shares as a result of an acceptance of the Offer.

As long as Your Neverfail Shares are registered in your name and you deliver them directly to
CCA, you will not incur any brokerage in connection with your acceptance of the Offer. If you
hold Your Neverfail Shares through a bank, broker or other nominee, you should ask your bank,
broker or other nominee whether it will charge any transaction fees or service charges in
connection with your acceptance of the Offer.

Who may accept this Offer

(@)

This Offer is made to you as the holder of Neverfail Shares registered in your name, in
the register of members of Neverfail at 10.00 am (Sydney time) on the Record Date
and/or as a person who becomes registered in the register of members of Neverfail as
the holder of any Neverfail Shares in the period from the Record Date until the end of
the Offer Period by virtue of an issue to you of Neverfail Shares during that period
pursuant to the exercise of Neverfail Options.

If at the time this Offer is made to you, or at any time during the Offer Period and
before you accept this Offer, another person is, or is entitled to be, registered as the
holder of, or is able to give good title to, some or all of Your Neverfail Shares (the
“Transferred Shares”) to which this Offer relates, then in accordance with section
653B(1)(a) of the Corporations Act:

) a corresponding Offer shall be deemed to have been made at that time to that
other person in respect of the Transferred Shares;

(i)  acorresponding Offer shall be deemed to have been made to you in respect of
Your Neverfail Shares other than the Transferred Shares; and

(iii)  this Offer shall be deemed to have been withdrawn immediately after making
such corresponding offers.

If at any time during the Offer Period and before you accept this Offer, Your Neverfail
Shares to which this Offer relates consist of two or more separate parcels for the
purposes of section 653B of the Corporations Act, then in accordance with section 653B
of the Corporations Act, this Offer shall be deemed at that time to consist of separate
corresponding offers made to you in relation to the respective separate parcels of
Neverfail Shares and an acceptance by you of any of those separate corresponding offers
is ineffective unless you have given to CCA notice which:
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i)  if it relates to Neverfail Shares in a CHESS Holding, must be in an electronic form
approved by the SCH Business Rules; or

(i)  if it relates to Neverfail Shares held in an Issuer Sponsored Holding, must be in
writing,

indicating that Your Neverfail Shares consist of separate parcels and the acceptance
indicates the number of Neverfail Shares in the separate parcels to which the acceptance
relates, provided that you may at the one time accept two or more such separate
corresponding Offers as if they were a single offer in relation to separate parcels of
shares.

If this applies to you, contact Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited on 1300 135
842 at local call rates from within Australia or +61 3 9615 5970 from outside Australia for
such additional copies of this Bidder's Statement and Acceptance Form as are necessary.
Please note that, in accordance with legal requirements, calls to these numbers will be
recorded. '

5.1 How to accept this Offer

(@

(b)

You may accept this Offer at any time during the Offer Period. Subject to section 5.10
(relating to holdings of separate parcels of Neverfail Shares) your acceptance of the
Offer must be in respect of all of your Neverfail Shares.

The manner by which you may accept this Offer will depend on whether Your Neverfail
Shares are in a CHESS Holding or in an Issuer Sponsored Holding. Your Neverfail
Shares are in a CHESS Holding if they are sponsored by a Broker or other Controlling
Participant or you yourself are a Broker or Non-Broker Participant. Your Neverfail
Shares are in an Issuer Sponsored Holding if they are sponsored directly by Neverfail as
issuer.

If you have any questions about how to accept this Offer or need a replacement
Acceptance Form, please contact Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited on 1300
135 842 at local call rates from within Australia or +61 3 9615 5970 from outside
Australia. Please note that, in accordance with legal requirements, calls to these numbers
will be recorded. Alternatively, you may consult your broker or other financial or
professional adviser.

() CHESS Holdings

If any of Your Neverfail Shares are in a CHESS Holding, acceptance of this Offer
in respect of those Neverfail Shares can only be made in accordance with the SCH
Business Rules.

To accept this Offer in respect of those Neverfail Shares you must:

A.  if you are a Broker or a Non Broker Participant, initiate acceptance of this
Offer in accordance with Rule 16.3 of the SCH Business Rules before the
end of the Offer Pelfiod; or

B. otherwise, instruct your Controlling Participant (normally your
stockbroker) to initiate acceptance of this Offer in accordance with Rule 16.3
of the SCH Business Rules before the end of the Offer Period.

(i)  Issuer Sponsored Holdings

If any of Your Neverfail Shares are in an Issuer Sponsored Holding, then to accept
this Offer in respect of those Neverfail Shares you must:
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A.  complete and sign the accompanying Acceptance Form in accordance with
the instructions on it (which forms part of this Offer and must be observed
in accepting the Offer in respect of any Neverfail Shares held in an Issuer
Sponsored Holding); and

B. ensure that the Acceptance Form and any documents required by the terms
of the Offer and the instructions on the Acceptance Form are received
before the end of the Offer Period, at the following address:

Coca-Cola Amatil Takeover Offer
Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited,
GPO Box 7115

Sydney, New South Wales, 1115

or, if by hand delivery, delivered to the following address:

Coca-Cola Amatil Takeover Offer
Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited
Level 3, 60 Carrington Street

Sydney, New South Wales, 2000

A reply paid envelope has been enclosed for shareholders with Australian
addresses to return their completed Acceptance Form. Overseas shareholders
should return their Acceptance Form by airmail.

The method chosen to deliver the Acceptance Form and other documenits is at the
risk of each accepting shareholder.

Acceptance of the Offer in respect of Your Neverfail Shares which are in an Issuer
Sponsored Holding shall not be complete until the properly completed
Acceptance Form (including any documents required by the terms of the Offer
and the instructions on the Acceptarnce Form) has been received at the address
specified above. CCA may, however, in its sole discretion waive at any time, prior
to the end of the Offer Period, all or any of those requirements.

(iif)  If some of Your Neverfail Shares are held in a number of forms

If some of Your Neverfail Shares are in different holdings, your acceptance of this
Offer will require action under sections 5.11(b)(i) and 5.11(b)(ii) in relation to the
separate portions of Your Neverfail Shares.

() Beneficial owners whose Neverfail Shares are registered in the name of a broker,
investment dealer, bank, trust company or other nominee should contact that nominee
for assistance in accepting this Offer.

5.12 New Neverfail Shares issued as a result of exercise of Neverfail Options

You may accept the Offer, in relation to Neverfail Shares which become registered in your name in
Neverfail's register of members, in the period from the Record Date until the end of the Offer
Period by virtue of an issue to you of Neverfail Shares during that period pursuant to an exercise
of Neverfail Options.

If you exercise Neverfail Options prior to the end of the Offer Period but the underlying Neverfail
Shares are not registered in your name in Neverfail's register of members prior to the end of the
Offer Period, those Neverfail Shares are excluded from the Offer and any purported acceptance of
the Offer in respect of those Neverfail Shares will be invalid.
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5.14

Validity of acceptances

Your acceptanice will not be valid unless it is made in accordance with the procedures set forth in
sections 5.10 to 5.13 of this Bidder's Statement and the instructions on the Acceptance Form. The
Acceptance Form forms part of this Offer.

You must choose the method of delivery you will use to deliver your Acceptance Form and all
other required documents as set forth in section 5.11. That delivery is at your risk. Persons
holding Neverfail Shares through brokers, dealers, commercial banks, trust companies or
nominees may request these persons to effect the above deliveries on their behalf.

CCA will determine, in its sole discretion, all questions as to the form of documents, including the
validity, eligibility, including time of receipt, and acceptance of Neverfail Shares. The
determination of CCA will be final and binding on all parties.

CCA may, in its sole discretion, at any time deem any Acceptance Form it receives to be a valid
acceptance in respect of Your Neverfail Shares, even if a requirement for acceptance has not been
complied with and may waive any requirement of sections 5.10 to 5.13. Payment of consideration
in accordance with the Offer will not be made until any irregularity has been resolved or waived
and until all documents required to procure registration of CCA as holder of Neverfail Shares
concerned have been received by CCA.

The effect of acceptance

By signing and returning an Acceptance Form or initiating acceptance of this Offer in accordance
with section 5.11 you will or will be deemed to have:

(a) accepted this Offer (and any variation of it} irrevocably in accordance with its terms in
respect of all Your Neverfail Shares;

(b) agreed to transfer to CCA Your Neverfail Shares (regardless of the number of Neverfail
Shares specified in the Acceptance Form or other acceptance) subject to this Offer being
declared free from the conditions set out in section 5.4 or such conditions being fuifilled
or waived and subject to the provisions of section 5.10;

(© authorised CCA (by its directors, officers, servants or agents) to complete on the
Acceptance Form correct details of Your Neverfail Shares, fill in any blanks remaining
on the Acceptance Form and rectify any error in or omission from the Acceptance Form
as may be necessary to make the Acceptance Form an effective acceptance of this Offer
and transfer Your Neverfail Shares to CCA;

(d) represented and warranted to CCA as a fundamental condition going to the root of the
contract resulting from your acceptance that, both at the time of acceptance of this Offer
and at the time of registration of the transfer of Your Neverfail Shares to CCA, Your
Neverfail Shares (including any Rights) are fully paid up and free from all mortgages,
charges, liens, encumbrances (whether legal or equitable) and restrictions on transfer of
any kind and that you have full power, capacity and authority to accept the Offer and
sell Your Neverfail Shares (including the legal and beneficial ownership in those
Neverfail Shares and any Rights);

(e) represented and warranted to, and agreed with CCA, that Your Neverfail Shares in
respect of which you have accepted this Offer will be purchased by CCA with all Rights
and that you will execute all such instruments as CCA may require for the purpose of
vesting in it any such Rights;
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irrevocably authorised and directed Neverfail to pay to CCA or to account to CCA for
all Rights, subject however to any such Rights received by CCA being accounted for by
CCA to you in the event that this Offer is withdrawn or the contract resulting from your
acceptance of this Offer is rendered void pursuant to section 5.4(c);

except where Rights have been paid or accounted for under section 5.14(f), irrevocably
appointed CCA and its directors from time to time jointly and severally as your attorney
in your name and on your behalf, with effect from the date that the Offer, or any
contract resulting from your acceptance of the Offer, becomes unconditional, to execute
all such instruments as CCA may require for the purpose of vesting in it any such
Rights;

represented and warranted to CCA that, unless you have notified in accordance with
section 5.10(c), Your Neverfail Shares do not consist of separate parcels of Neverfail
Shares;

irrevocably appointed CCA and each of its directors, secretaries and officers from time
to time jointly and severally as your true and lawful exclusive attorney, agent and proxy
in your name and on your behalf, with effect from the date that the Offer, or any
contract resulting from your acceptance of the Offer, becomes unconditional, to do all
things which you could lawfully do in relation to Your Neverfail Shares or in exercise of
any right derived from the holding of Your Neverfail Shares including, without
limitation, the rights to:

M attend and vote in respect of Your Neverfail Shares at any and all meetings of
Neverfail;

(i)  requisition or join with other holders of Neverfail Shares in requisitioning and/or
convening a meeting of the members of Neverfail;

(iif) demand a poll for any vote to be taken at any meeting of Neverfail shareholders;

(iv) propose or second any resolutions to be considered at any and all meetings of
Neverfail shareholders;

(v)  execute all forms, transfers, assignments, notices, instruments (including
instruments appointing a director of CCA as a proxy in respect of all or any of
Your Neverfail Shares and a transfer form for Your Neverfail Shares), proxies,
transfers, consents, agreements and resolutions relating to Your Neverfail Shares
and as may be necessary or desirable to convey Your Neverfail Shares and Rights
to CCA,; and

(vi) request Neverfail to register in the name of CCA or its nominee Your Neverfail
Shares which you hold on any register of Neverfail;

and to have agreed that in exercising the powers conferred by that power of attorney the
attorney shall be entitled to act in the interests of CCA as the beneficial owner and
intended registered holder of Your Neverfail Shares in respect of which you have
accepted this Offer and to have further agreed to do all such acts, matters and things
that CCA may require to give effect to the matters the subject of this paragraph
(including the execution of a written form of proxy to the same effect as this paragraph
which complies in all respects with the requirements of the constitution of Neverfail) if
requested by CCA.
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5.15

CCA will indemnify you and keep you indemnified in respect of all costs, expenses and
obligations which might otherwise be incurred or undertaken as a result of the exercise
by an attorney of any powers under this paragraph. This appointment, being given for
valuable consideration to secure the interest acquired in Your Neverfail Shares, is
irrevocable and terminates upon registration of a transfer to CCA or its nominee of Your
Neverfail Shares;

agreed not to attend or vote in person at any general meeting of Neverfail or to exercise
or purport to exercise any of the powers conferred on CCA or its nominee in paragraph
(i) above;

agreed to indemnify CCA in respect of any claim or action against it or any loss, damage
or liability whatsoever incurred by it as a result of you not producing your Holder
Identification Number or in consequence of the transfer of Your Neverfail Shares being
registered by Neverfail without production of Your Holder Identification Number for
your Neverfail Shares;

authorised CCA to notify Neverfail on your behalf that your place of address for the
purpose of serving notices upon you in respect of Your Neverfail Shares in respect of
which you have accepted this Offer is at the address of CCA as specified by CCA in the
notification, and that all such notices are to be marked care of CCA and to have directed
Neverfail to serve all correspondence, payments or notifications in respect of any Rights
and other communications and documents whatsoever in respect of those Neverfail
Shares to CCA at that address;

if at the time of acceptance of this Offer Your Neverfail Shares are in a CHESS Holding,
with effect from the date that this Offer or any contract resulting from acceptance of this
Offer is declared free from all its conditions, or those conditions are satisfied, authorised
CCA to cause a message to be transmitted to SCH in accordance with SCH Business
Rule 16.6.1 so as to transfer Your Neverfail Shares to CCA's Takeover Transferee
Holding. CCA shall be so authorised even though at the time of such transfer it has not
paid the consideration due to you under this Offer.

The undertakings and authorities referred to in this section 5.14 will (unless otherwise stated
herein) remain in force after you receive the consideration for Your Neverfail Shares acquired by
CCA and after CCA becomes registered as holder of them.

Rights

If CCA becomes entitled to any Rights pursuant to an acceptance of this Offer, it may require you
to give to CCA all documents that may be necessary to vest in it title to those Rights. If you do not
give these documents to CCA or if you have received the benefit of those Rights, CCA will be
entitled to deduct from the consideration otherwise due to you the amount or value (as
reasonably assessed by CCA) of such Rights.
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6.1

6.2

6.3

Provision of cash consideration

Cash consideration

The consideration for the acquisition of Your Neverfail Shares under the Offer is to be satisfied
wholly by payment in cash.

Amount payable

Based on the number of Neverfail Shares and Neverfail Options on issue at the date of this
Bidder's Statement and not including Neverfail Shares already owned by CCA, the maximum
amount of consideration which would be payable by CCA under the Takeover Bid for Neverfail
Shares if every holder of Neverfail Shares accepted the Offer {including holders of new Neverfail
Shares which would become subject of the Offer if all of the Neverfail Options were exercised
during the Offer Period) is approximately $192.1 million.

Sources of funds

CCA will use an existing syndicated revolving cash advance facility for $385,937,500 (“Facility”)
available to it for general corperate funding requirements to fund the cash required to pay the
consideration under the Offer.

Facility

The Facility is provided by:

. Australian and New Zealand Banking Group Limited (for up to $118,750,000) (“Agent”);
. Westpac Banking Corporation (for up to $89,062,500);

. ING Bank N.V Sydney Branch (for up to $59,375,000);

. Citibank N.A (for up to $59,375,000); and

. UBS Australia Limited (for up to $59,375,000),

{the “Banks”). The Facility is available for drawing until 13 November 2003.

At the date of this Bidder's Statement, the full amount of the Facility is available to be drawn down
and is sufficient to finance the acquisition by CCA of all of the Neverfail Shares subject of the Offer
(including all of the new Neverfail Shares which would become subject of the Offer if all of the
Neverfail Options were exercised during the Offer Period) together with all costs of the Offer.

Documentation

The Facility was originally entered into by CCA on 16 November 1998 and subsequently amended
on 14 May 2001 and 5 June 2002 (“Facility Agreement”). The Facility Agreement, together with
certain fee letters, comprises the “Transaction Documents” for the purposes of the Facility.

The Facility Agreement contains provisions relating to the payment of interest and repayment of
principal, representations and warranties, events of default and other covenants. Except to the
extent described below, these provisions are customary for transactions similar to the Facility.

Conditions Precedent
The Banks are not obliged to make any drawing available to CCA unless:

. the representations and warranties made in connection with the Transaction Documents
are true and not misleading, by omission or in any other way, at the relevant drawdown
date; and
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. as at the relevant drawdown date, no event of default or potential event of default has
occurred which has not been remedied or waived or would result from the drawing of
the amount advanced (or to be advanced).

CCA expects that these conditions precedent will be satisfied prior to any cash payments being
required to be made under the Offer.

Representations and Warranties

Representations and warranties contained in the Facility Agreement include (amongst other
things) that:

. there has been no material adverse change, since the date of CCA's last accounts, in the
CCA Group's financial condition, assets, revenues, business or prospects; and

. certain bottler's agreements between the CCA Group and The Coca-Cola Company are
valid and enforceable.

CCA is not aware of, and does not expect that there will occur, any breaches of representations or
warranties contained in the Facility Agreement which could prevent CCA from drawing funds
under the Facility.

Events of Default

Events of default contained in the Facility Agreement include (amongst other things):

. failure to pay any amount owing under the Transaction Documents when due;

. breach of representations or warranties;

. cross defaults in relation to other debt of CCA or its subsidiaries;

. a Transaction Document becoming void, voidable or unenforceable; and

. in certain circumstances termination or cancellation of a bottler's agreement between the

CCA Group and The Coca-Cola Company.

CCA is not aware of the occurrence of, and does not expect that there will occur, any events of
default contained in the Facility Agreement which could result in a termination of that agreement
or prevent CCA from drawing funds under the Facility.

Review Event

The Facility Agreement provides that if there is a change in the long term credit rating of CCA by
Standard & Poor's (Australia) Pty Limited, the Agent will conduct a review of the interest margin
and/or the fees payable under the Transaction Documents and obtain instructions from Banks
whose commitments or participations in amounts outstanding under the Facility represent at least
66%:% of the aggregate (“Majority Lenders”) as to whether or not there should be an increase or
decrease in the margin and/or fees. Any Bank which does not form part of the Majority Lenders
may elect to no longer participate in the Facility or, if Majority Lenders do not determine an
appropriate increase or decrease, any of the Banks may elect to no longer participate in the Facility.

CCA has no reason to believe that there will be a change to its long term credit rating by Standard
& Poor's (Australia) Pty Limited during the Offer Period which could trigger the review event
referred to above.
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7.1

7.2

Tax considerations

Introduction

The following is a general description of the Australian income and capital gains tax
consequences to Neverfail shareholders of the acceptance of the Offer. The comments set out
below are relevant only to those Neverfail shareholders who hold their Neverfail Shares as capital
assets for the purpose of investment. If you trade in shares you will need to get independent
professional advice.

The following summary is intended only for Neverfail shareholders resident in Australia for
income tax purposes. Neverfail shareholders who are not resident in Australia for tax purposes
should take into account the tax consequences under the laws of their country of residence, as
well as under Australian law, of acceptance of the Offer. Furthermore, this summary is not
intended for Neverfail shareholders who acquired their shares in respect of their (or an associates)
employment at Neverfail (or an associated company).

The following description is based upon the law in effect at the date of this Bidder's Statement,
but it is not intended to be an authoritative or complete statement of the law applicable to the
particular circumstances of every Neverfail shareholder. Neverfail shareholders should seek
independent professional advice in relation to their own particular circumstances.

Capital gain or loss on disposal of Neverfail Shares

The sale of Your Neverfail Shares pursuant to the Offer will involve the disposal by you of Your
Neverfail Shares by way of transfer to CCA. This change in the ownership of Your Neverfail
Shares will constitute a CGT event for Australian capital gains tax purposes. The date of disposal
for capital gains tax purposes will be the date that you accept the Offer. If, for any reason the
Offer does not proceed, no disposal event will occur and no capital gains tax implications will
arise.

If you are an Australian resident you may make a capital gain or a capital loss from the disposal
of Your Neverfail Shares. These amounts will be relevant in determining whether you have a net
capital gain to include in your taxable income for the year.

In general, capital gains and capital losses are firstly aggregated to determine whether there is a
net capital gain, which is calculated after taking into account any discount capital gains or other
concessions in respect of the capital gains. The remaining net capital gain is included in assessable
income, and is subject to income tax. A net capital loss may not be deducted against other income
for income tax purposes, but may be carried forward to offset against future capital gains.

Capital Gain

If the capital proceeds from the disposal of Your Neverfail Shares are more than the cost base (or
in some cases, the indexed cost base) of those shares a capital gain would arise.

The capital proceeds of the CGT event will be the cash received by you in respect of the disposal
of Your Neverfail Shares.

The cost base of Your Neverfail Shares will generally be their cost of acquisition plus any
incidental costs of acquisition (such as brokerage and stamp duty).
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If the Neverfail Shares were acquired at or before 11.45 am on 21 September 1999, a Neverfail
shareholder who is an individual, a complying superannuation entity or the trustee of a trust may
elect to adjust the cost base of the Neverfail Shares to include indexation by reference to changes
in the Consumer Price Index from the calendar quarter in which the Neverfail Shares were
acquired until the quarter ended 30 September 1999. Neverfail shareholders which are companies
will be entitled to include that indexation adjustment without making an election if their
Neverfail Shares were acquired at or before 11.45 am on 21 September 1999 and held for more
than 12 months before their disposal.

Indexation adjustments are taken into account only for the purposes of calculating a capital gain.

Neverfail shareholders who are individuals, complying superannuation entities ar trustees and
who do not or cannot elect to adjust their cost base for indexation (as outlined above) can
discount the amount of the capital gain in respect of the disposal of the Neverfail Shares if they
have held their Neverfail Shares for more than 12 months before the date of disposal (referred to
as the “CGT Discount”). The CGT Discount is applied only after any available capital losses have
been applied to the capital gain. For individuals and trustees the discount rate is 50% and for
complying superannuation entities the discount rate is 33%4%.

Neverfail shareholders which are companies do not qualify for a CGT Discount.
Capital Loss

If the capital proceeds are less than the reduced cost base of your Neverfail Shares, a capital loss
would arise. Generally, the reduced cost base of your Neverfail Shares is the cost base (discussed
above) without any adjustment for indexation. The CGT Discount does not apply to capital losses.
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8.1

8.2

Additional information

Neverfail securities on issue

Based on documents lodged by Neverfail with ASX, the total number of securities in each class in
Neverfail at the date of this Bidder's Statement is as follows:

and various exercise dates and expiry dates)

Number
Neverfail Shares 95,185,688
Neverfail Options (with exercise prices varying from $2.00 to $4.28 4,445,295

Interests of CCA

(a)

Relevant interests in Neverfail securities

As at the date of this Bidder's Statement, CCA had a relevant interest in 14,270,000
Neverfail Shares (representing 14.99% of the issued capital of Neverfail) and a relevant
interest in no Neverfail Options.

As at the date immediately before the first Offer was sent, CCA had a relevant interest in
14,270,000 Neverfail Shares and no Neverfail Options.

Voting power in Neverfail
As at the date of this Bidder's Statement, the voting power of CCA in Neverfail was 14.99%.

As at the date immediately before the first Offer was sent, the voting power of CCA in
Neverfail was 14.85%.

Price paid for Neverfail Shares by CCA or associates
On 28 April 2003, CCA purchased a total of 14,270,000 Neverfail Shares for $2.25 each.
Relevant interest and voting power of The Coca-Cola Company

Because The Coca-Cola Company owns more than 20% of CCA's issued ordinary shares,
The Coca-Cola Company has the same relevant interest and voting power in Neverfail
as CCA has.
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8.3

8.4

8.5

8.6

Substantial shareholders

Based on documents lodged with ASX, at the date of this Bidder's Statement, the substantial
shareholders in Neverfail (other than CCA) are set out in the table below. The voting power of -
each of those substantial shareholders, and the number of Neverfail Shares representing that
voting power, at the date of the last substantial shareholder notice lodged with ASX by each of
following substantial shareholders is as follows:

Sﬁbstaﬁtjai shareholder P Nubmber of ~ Voting
’ R Neverfail Shares ., Power

] B Were Group Holdings Pty Limited 11,383,737 12.02%

ING Australia Limited 11,287,328 _ 11.91%
AMP Limited 10,937,764 11.54%
Perpetual Trustees Australia Limited 10,846,578 11.44%
Morgan Stanley Investment Management Limited 9,757,238 10.60%
Australia & New Zealand Banking Group Limited 9,139,891 9.64%
Deutsche Asset Management (Australia) Limited 8,804,359 9.40%
Commonwealth Bank of Australia 7,029,736 7.42%

The table above does not include any effect of the acquisitions of Neverfail Shares made by CCA
referred to in section 8.2(c) or issues of Neverfail Shares after the date that a substantial
shareholder lodged its last substantial shareholder notice with ASX.

Dealing in prior 4 months

Except as set out in section 8.2 of this Bidder's Statement, neither CCA nor any associate of CCA
has provided or agreed to provide consideration for any Neverfail Shares under a purchase or
agreement during the 4 months before the date of this Bidder's Statement.

No collateral benefits

Except as set out in section 8.2 of this Bidder's Statement, neither CCA nor any associate of CCA
gave or offered to give or agreed to give a benefit to another person during the period of four
months before the date of this Bidder's Statement where the benefit was likely to induce the other
person, or an associate of that person, to:

(a) accept any Offer; or
(b) dispose of Neverfail Shares,

which benefit is not offered to all holders of Neverfail Shares under the Offer.

Regulatory issues
(@) Foreign Acquisition and Takeovers Act 1975

The Foreign Acquisitions and Takeovers Act regulates (among other matters) the
acquisition of shares in certain Australian corporations where the acquisition results

in the company being controlled by a foreign person or results in a change in the identity
of the foreign controllers of the corporation.
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8.7

The Offer is subject to approval or non objection by the Treasurer under Part II of the
Foreign Acquisitions and Takeovers Act regarding the acquisition of shares in Neverfail
by CCA (see section 5.4(3)(i)).

CCA lodged an application with the Foreign Investment Review Board on 29 April 2003.

The condition in section 5.4(a) (iii) of this Bidder’'s Statement will not be triggered by, and
CCA will not be able to rely on that condition because of, approval (or non-objection) by
the Treasurer of the acquisition of 15% or more of all Neverfail Shares by any person.

Public Authorities

The Offer is subject to a condition that no decision (preliminary or final) of any Public
Authority is in effect, and that no application is commenced by, or made to, any Public
Authority, which restrains or prohibits (or, if granted, could restrain or prohibit) or otherwise
materially adversely impacts upon the Offer or completion of any transaction contemplated
by the Offer. For these purposes, the term Public Authority includes the Australian
Competition and Consumer Commission (*ACCC”) and the Federal Court of Australia.

CCA has provided the ACCC with a submission in relation to the effect on competition
of an acquisition by CCA of Neverfail. CCA does not believe that the acquisition of the
Neverfail Shares under the Offer will be restrained by the ACCC.

CCA director shareholdings in Neverfail

David Gonski, the Chairman of CCA, is the beneficial owner of 4,968 Neverfail Shares.

Neverfail's ASX material disclosures

Based on documents lodged by Neverfail with ASX, set out below is a summary of the material
announcements by Neverfail to ASX since Neverfail's 2002 Annual Report was lodged with ASX
by Neverfail on 4 October 2002.

A copy of each of the announcements below is attached to this Bidder's Statement as Annexure A.

28/02/2003 Open Briefing of Neverfail's CEO on H2 03 Outlook

26/02/2003 Presentation - Half-Year Results

26/02/2003 Neverfail announcement of increases in revenue by 15%

26/02/2003 Appendix 4B in respect of Neverfail's Half-Year Report

26/02/2003 Neverfail's Half-Year Accounts contained in Neverfail's Half-Year Report
26/11/2002 Open Briefing of Neverfail's CEO - Business Update

15/11/2002 Chairman's Address to Shareholders

15/11/2002 Neverfail's Founder Retires from Board
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8.9

8.10

8.1

Coca-Cola Amatil ASX announcement
The text of the announcement by CCA to ASX in relation to this Offer is attached as Annexure B.
Consent

UBS Warburg Australia Equities Limited has given its consent to each statement by it and to each
statement said in this Bidder's Statement to be based on a statement by it, being included in this
Bidder's Statement in the form and context in which it is included and has not withdrawn that
consent before the Bidder's Statement was lodged with ASIC.

No other material information

There is no other information which:

(a) is material to the making of the decision by a person to whom this Offer is made
whether or not to accept an Offer;

(b) is known to CCA,; and

{c) . hasnot previously been disclosed to the holders of Neverfail Shares,

other than as disclosed in this Bidder's Statement (including the Annexures).
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9.1

Defined terms and interpretation

Defined Terms

In this Bidder's Statement the following words have these meanings unless the contrary intention
or the context otherwise requires:

“Acceptance Form” means the acceptance and transfer form enclosed with this Bidder's
Statement which forms part of the Offer.

“Agent” has the meaning given in section 6.3

“Announcement Date” means 29 April 2003.

“ASIC” means the Australian Securities and Investments Commission.
“ASX” means Australian Stock Exchange Limited.

“Bank” has the meaning given in section 6.3.

“Bidder’s Statement” means this Bidder's Statement in respect of the Offer given by CCA
pursuant to part 6.5 of the Corporations Act and in compliance with the requirements of section
636 and 637 of the Corporations Act.

“Broker” means a member organisation admitted to participate in the CHESS under Rule 2.1.1 of
the SCH Business Rules.

“CCA” means Coca-Cola Amatil Limited, ABN 26 004 139 397.
“CCA Group” means CCA and each of its subsidiaries.
“CGT” means capital gains tax.

“CHESS” means Clearing House Electronic Subregister System, which provides for the electronic
transfer of securities in Australia.

“CHESS Holding” has the meaning set out in the SCH Business Rules.

“Controlling Participant” means the Broker or Non-Broker Participant who is designated as the
controlling participant for shares in a CHESS Holding in accordance with the SCH Business Rules.

“Corporations Act” means the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).
“Facility” has the meaning given in section 6.3.
“Facility Agreement” has the meaning given in section 6.3.

“Issuer Sponsored Holding” means a holding of Neverfail Shares on Neverfail's issuer sponsored
sub-register.

“Listing Rules” means the official listing rules of ASX.

“Majority Lenders” has the meaning given in section 6.3.

“Neverfail” means Neverfail Springwater Limited, ABN 43 003 559 519.
“Neverfail Group” means Neverfail and each of its subsidiaries.

“Neverfail Options” means unlisted options to subscribe for Neverfail Shares granted by
Neverfail under the Neverfail Option Plan which are on issue as at 10.00am (Sydney time) on the
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Record Date and all Rights attaching to them.

“Neverfail Option Plan” means the Neverfail Executive Share Option Plan under which options
may be issued to directors and other executive officers of Neverfail.

“Neverfail Shares” means fully paid ordinary shares in the capital of Neverfail and all Rights
attaching to them.

“Non-Broker Participant” means an entity admitted to participate in CHESS under Rule 2.3.1,
2.3.2 or 2.4.1 of the SCH Business Rules.

“Offer” means the offer by CCA to acquire Neverfail Shares set out in section 5 of this Bidder's
Statement.

“Offer Period” means the period or extended period during which the Offer is to remain open in
accordance with section 5.5 of this Bidder's Statement.

“person” means an incorporated or unincorporated body or association as well as a natural
person.

“Prescribed Occurrence” means any of the following events occurs:

(a) Neverfail converts all or any of its shares into a larger or smaller number of shares;
{b) Neverfail or a subsidiary of Neverfail resolves to reduce its share capital in any way;
(© Neverfail or a subsidiary of Neverfail:

(i) enters into a buy-back agreement; or

(ii)  resolves to approve the terms of a buy-back agreement under section 257C(1) or
section 257D(1) of the Corporations Act;

(d) Neverfail or a subsidiary of Neverfail issues shares, or grants an option over its shares
or agrees to make such an issue or grant such an option;

(e) Neverfail or a subsidiary of Neverfail issues, or agrees to issue, convertible notes;

6] Neverfail or a subsidiary of Neverfail disposes, or agrees to dispose, of the whole, or a

substantial part, of its business or property;

fed] Neverfail or a subsidiary of Neverfail charges, or agrees to charge, the whole, or a
substantial part, of its business or property;

(h) Neverfail or a subsidiary of Neverfail resolves that it be wound up;

(M) the appointment of a liquidator or provisional liquidator of Neverfail or of a subsidiary
of Neverfail;

1) the making of an order by a court for the winding up of Neverfail or of a subsidiary of
Neverfail;

(k) an administrator of Neverfail, or of a subsidiary of Neverfail, being appointed under

section 436A, 436B or 436C of the Corporations Act;
) Neverfail or a subsidiary of Neverfail executing a deed of company arrangement; or

(m) the appointment of a receiver, or a receiver and manager, in relation to the whole, or a
substantial part, of the property of Neverfail or of a subsidiary of Neverfail.



34

section 9: defined terms and interpretation

9.2

“Public Authority” means any government or any governmental, semi-governmental,
administrative, statutory or judicial entity, authority or agency, whether in Australia or elsewhere,
including any self-regulatory organisation established under statute or any stock exchange.

“Record Date” means the date set by CCA under section 633(2) of the Corporations Act and
notified to ASX under section 633(4) of the Corporations Act.

“Rights” means all accretions and rights attaching to or arising from Neverfail Shares on or after
the Announcement Date including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, all rights to
receive dividends, bonuses or other share of Neverfail's profits and assets as well as all rights to
receive or subscribe for shares, stock units, notes or options and all other distributions or
entitlements declared, paid or issued by Neverfail on or after the Announcement Date.

“SCH” means the securities clearing house which administers the CHESS system in Australia.
“SCH Business Rules” means the rules of SCH from time to time.

“Takeover Bid” means an off-market takeover bid for Neverfail Shares made by CCA in
accordance with the Offers pursuant to chapter 6 of the Corporations Act.

“Takeover Transferee Holding” has the meaning set out in the SCH Business Rules.
*Transaction Document” has the meaning given in section 6.3.

“Transferred Shares” has the meaning given in section 5.10.

“Treasurer” means the Treasurer of the Commonwealth of Australia.

“Your Neverfail Shares” means all of the Neverfail Shares the subject of the Offer in respect of
which you are registered as holder as at 10.00am (Sydney time) on the Record Date and any other
Neverfail Shares in respect of which you become registered as the holder in the period from the
Record Date until the end of the Offer Period by virtue of an issue to you of Neverfail Shares
during that period pursuant to the exercise of Neverfail Options.

Interpretation

(a) Terms used in this Bidder's Statement have the meaning (if any) given to them in
chapter 6 of the Corporations Act or the SCH Business Rules unless that meaning is
inconsistent with the context in which the term is used.

(b) In this Bidder's Statement:

(i) headings are for convenience only and do not affect the meaning of the
paragraphs they introduce;

and unless the context otherwise requires:
i)  the singular includes the plural and vice versa;

(
(iii) words importing any gender include any other genders;
{iv) references to persons include corporations;

(

v)  appendices and annexures to this Bidder's Statement form part of this Bidder's
Statement;

{vi) references to paragraphs are to paragraphs in this Bidder's Statement;

(vii) references to “dollar” or “$” are references to Australian currency.
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(© To the extent permissible under applicable law, this Bidder's Statement and the Offer are
governed by Australian law.

‘Coca-Cola’, “Vanilla Coke’, ‘diet Coke’, ‘Fanta’, ‘Sprite’, ‘Lift’, ‘Lift Plus’, 'POWER&DE’ and the ‘&’
symbol, ‘pump’ and ‘Fruitopia’ are trade marks of The Coca-Cola Company.

Dated: 29 April 2003
Signed on behalf of Coca-Cola Amatil Limited ABN 26 004 139 397

by Terry J Davis, director, who is authorised to sign this
Bidder's Statement following a resolution of the directors of CCA

Terry J Davis
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Annexure A

Neverfail's Material ASX Announcements
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Attention ASX Company Announcements Platform.
Lodgement of Open Briefing.

Nevertaill Springwater Limited
Level 7. Building 2

423 Pennant Hills Road
Pennant Hills NSW 2120

Date of Lodgement: 28-Feb-2003

Title: Open Briefing. Neverfail Springwater. CEO on H2 03 Outlook

corporatefile.com.au

Neverfail Springwater Limited reported a net profit of 34.9 million for the first
half ended December 2002, up 22 percent from the previous corresponding period,
excluding a $0.5 million one-off benefit in the previous period. You've maintained
your net profit target of $12.0 million to $12.8 million for the full year ending June
2003, which implies a second half result of $7.1 million to $7.9 million, up 42
percent and 58 percent respectively. What makes you confident you can achieve
this target?

CEO Steve Keim

We feel our full-year growth target of 26 to 34 percent is reasonable in the context
of last year’s cool summer. January through March normally represents around 45
percent of our full-year profit.

What makes us confident is we've improved our average pricing per bottle and
grown our customer base. At the same time, we've improved the quality of our
customers and seen some growth in the water-only segment, which is a sideline,
but none the iess a positive.

The summer weather’s been kind to us, and we're past the bulk of the costs
associated with the transition to independent distributorships and the introduction
of the hand-held data consoles. We can now take advantage of those developments
and focus on costs in the second half,
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All'in all, we've got the platform set to achieve our objectives.

corporatefile.com.au

First-half EBITDA was $16.4 million, up 14 percent. This is only slightly below
your long-term target of 15 percent growth, yet customer numbers were up by only
7 percent as opposed to the long-term target of 10 percent. Has there been a
structural change that allows you to achieve higher earnings on lower customer
numbers?

CEO Steve Keim

I's due to a combination of factors, and certainly the increased quality of our
customers is a structural change that's contributed. A more rigorous pricing policy
and requiring credit card payment from our residential customers mean our
customer base is more solid.

The other structural change is our use of contracted distributors who are paid on a
commission basis instead of on a salary - or fixed cost - basis. This means our
distribution costs are now higher overall in the high volume months and fower in
the low volume winter months. This negatively affected the first half as
distribuwtors signed on mostly in the second quarter. Conversely, the cost of
distribution should be much lower than a year ago for the April to June period.
Overall, distribution costs should be Jower on an annual basis with the distributor
model than with employees.

While we’ve benefitted from increasing consumption versus a year ago because
seasonal conditions have been better, growing the consumption of our existing
customers is an ongeing project. And we're using technology to reduce costs and
improve our cfficiencies, all of which should continue to generate impravements
in EBITDA.

corporatefile.com.an
What’s the outlook for full-year customer growth and EBITDA?

CEO Steve Keim

I'd say customer growth will be in line with the first half. It's harder for us to get
customers because we've raised the standard but our churn rate is lower, which
increases our efficiency.

We’d expect EBITDA prowth for the full year in the 19 to 23 percent range.

corporatefile.com.au

Neverfail's distribution costs increased to $7.2 million in the first half, equivalent
to 19.4 percent of sales and up from $6.1 million, or 18.7 percent of sales in the
previous first half. You've indicated that one-off transition costs had some impact.
Can you quantify these costs and indicate whether they'll continue during the
second half?
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CFO Simon Finnigan .
We had a total of about $400,000 in transition costs related to three major projects
~ the roll-out of the hand-held data consoles, the changeover to independent
distributors, and the relocation of our New South Wales distribution centre.

One-off costs related to the hand-helds were about $100,000 in terms of extra
shifts through the introduction period and training. We think we’re over the hump
in this area.

Under the new distributor contracts, we agreed to fix up our trucks before we
handed them over, which also cost about $100,000. Plus we had additional wages
and training costs of another $100,000 relating to the distributorships. In many
cases, we started the distributors on a casual basis for the first one or two months
to see that the job was right for them and they were right for us before we offered
them the contract.

The moving of machinery and equipment and other expenses related to the
relocation of our distribution centre to Arndell Park from Thomleigh also cost us
about $100,000. The relocation is complete.

We don’t expect those costs to be material in the second half, and for the full year,
1'd expect our distribution costs to be around 18.5 to 19 percent of sales.

corporatefile.com.an

Following your adopticn of a predominantly independent distribution network,
what do you see as an appropriate level for distribution costs in relation to sales
going forward?

CFO Simon Finnigan

I'd see around 18 percent as appropriate. But bear in mind we'll make some
additional savings in a couple of other cost areas, most notably in truck leasing
costs. That of course won't come through immediately because -under the
distributorship agreements we’ve agreed to pay two thirds of the lease in the first
year, one-third the next year, and none from the following year.

We’ll also have lower workers’ compensation costs, which will reduce our
administration expenses to some extent.

As Steve said, the real cost benefit of the distributorships is in cooler weather like
the winter months, when the previously fixed employee cost had to be absorbed

over a lower number of bottles delivered. With the contractor model, the costs
become variable.

corporatefile.com.au

During the first half, Neverfail’s customer churn was 7 percent fess than in the
previous comparable period, continuing a recent positive trend. What indications
do you have regarding the impact on customer churn of the changeover to
independent distributors?
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CEQ Steve Keim

We've now converted about 70 percent of our total delivery network from
employees to distributorships and our experience so far supports our view that the
change aligns the interests of the delivery people with those of the customer, and
better service means less churn.

What we're finding is a slight negative impact on customer chum during the
changeover process, when there might be some re-scheduling or re-routing. But
after the transition’s completed, the churn rate improves noticeably. And we’ve
got a variety of programmes in place with the distributors to continue to build on
that, such as weekly evaluations of performance and service standards.

corperatefile.com.au

You've targetted average rental per customer of about $197 for the current year,
compared with $184 in the previous year. What was the average rental for the first
half and are you in line to achieve the forecast?

CEOQO Steve Keim

I's difficult to quantify at this point because of our monthly versus annual
payment mix. What | can say is we’re up in what we’re targetting from new cooler
customners and we're adjusting rental prices for selected existing customers. Our
average cooler rental prices are up in all our markets. However, we've had
relatively strong growth in some of our newer, regional markets where rental
prices are lower, which means we're unlikely to meet the target of $197 this year.

corporatefile.com.au

in spite of the 14 percent rise in EBITDA in the first half, Neverfail's operating
cash flow before interest and tax was up only 6 percent to $10.7 million. What’s
the outlook for operating cash flow for the second half?

CFO Simon Finnigan

Operating cash flow in the first half will always be lower than EBITDA due to the
seasonality of our business, as December debtors are considerably higher than
June debtors. This reverses in the second half and operating cash flow will exceed
EBITDA.

Our full-year cash projection shows we'll have about $5 million in the bank at the
end of June.

corporatefile.com.an
First-half capex was $4.7 million, down from $7.1 million. To what extent is the
first-half capex indicative of the level of spending going forward?

CFO Simon Finnigan
Traditionally our second-half capex is a lot less. We're looking at full-year capex
of about 38 million to $9 million, compared with about $13 million last year.
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Moving forward, we’d anticipate capex growth of 8 to 10 percent, in line with our
customer growth.

corporatefile.com.au

Net debt increased to $65.7 million at the end of December, up from $63.2 million
at the end of June 2002, while shareholders’ equity rose to $15.9 million from $8.9
million. What's the outlook for debt levels for the end of June 2003?

CFO Simon Finnigan
We’ll use our projected $5 million cash in hand to pay down debt at the end of the
yvear. So we should end up with around $57 million of debt.

corporatefile.com.au

Neverfail announced a fully franked dividend of 4.4 cents per shate for the first
half, unchanged from the previous first half. The payout ratio was 84 percent.
What's the outlook for the full-year dividend and is the relatively high payout ratio
sustainable?

CEOQO Steve Keim

in our prospectus, we said we'd pay out around 70 percent of full-year camnings,
and because of the seasonality of the business, the first-half payout ratio tends to
be higher. We tend to look at it in terms of free cash rather than net profit after tax
in deciding year to year whether it's best to return the funds to shareholders or
reinvest in the company.

It's also worth noting we have quite a high level of support for our dividend
reinvestment plan. Last year, we had a take-up of about 50 percent. In the past,
we've offered a 5 percent discount relating to the plan but for this interim dividend
we're not offering any discount.

corporatefile.com.au

At its current level of $2.00, Neverfail’s share price is down 55 percent from its
high of $4.43 in December 2000 and there’s speculation that the company has
become an acquisition target. Is there any basis to this speculation?

CEO Steve Keim

We continue fo talk with a wide range of parties, but the tenor of these
conversations hasn’t changed much over the last couple of years. We have a lot of
visibility, being one of the few publicly held home and office bottled water
delivery companies. And the industry continues to consolidate globally, which was
highlighted recently by Nestle's takeover of Powwow, the largest bottied water
company in Europe,

But for the major global companies, the bottom line is we're operating in
Australia, which represents a potential market of only 19 million people. So I
don’t see anything changing dramatically one way or another in the shorter term.
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corporatefile.com.au
Thank you Steve and Simon.

For previous Open Briefings with Neverfail  Springwater, visit
www.corporatefile.com.ou

For more information about Neverfail Springwater, visit www.neverfail.com.ou
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For release: 26 February 2003

Neverfail increases revenue by 15 per cent

On track to meet full-year growth forecasts

Australia’s leading provider of chilled spring water, Neverfail Springwater Limited, has
recorded a 15 per cent increase in revenue and a 22 per cent increase in net profit before tax
for the six-month period to 31 December 2002.

Other half-year highlights include an increase in cooler customers, a decrease in customer
churn and an increase in water consumption per customer.

The Company confirms it is on track to meet its full-year forecasts for 2003, which will resutt
in an increase in net profit after tax of between 27 per cent ($12.1 million) and 33 per cent
{$12.8 million).

in accordance with the company’s continuing strong financial performance, Diractors
declared a fully franked interim dividend of 4.4 cents for the December half-year. (Record
date 31 March 2003, payment date 7 April 2003.)

Key Financial 6 months to 6 months to % increase
iformation et oD

Revenue 32.38 3717 15 % |
Earnings before interest, tax,

depreciation and amortisation 13.50 16.43 14%
Earnings before interest, tax,

and amartisation 9.95 11.28 13%
Net profit before tax 6.14 7.47 22%
Net profit after tax 4,54 4.94 %"
Earnings per share 4.9 cents 5.3 cents 8%*
Fuily franked interim dividend 4.4 cents 4.4 cents 0%

= Net profitaticr tax in the December 2001 reporting period was inflated by a one-off tax credit. Without this tax credit,
NPAT in 2001 would have been $4.06m instead of $4.54m and therefore. on a like for like tax basis, the NPAT in 2002
would have been 22% more than for the corresponding period fust year,
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Neverfail Springwater Limited Chief Executive Officer, Steve Keim, said a broad increase in
water consumption was the major highlight of Neverfail's financial performance in the six-
month period to 31 December 2002.

“We have benefited from the warm weather since December, and if these conditions
continue this should fead to a strong full-year performance,” Keim said

“Water revenue in January 2003 was 13 per cent greater than the January 2002 figure.”

In the six-month period to 31 December 2002, Neverfail increased customer numbers,
enjoyed stronger customer loyalty, generated higher revenues and delivered a strong bottom
lina.

Neverfail has increased its customer base by seven per cent, while initiatives to decrease
customer churn have led to churn being seven per cent less than for the December 2001
reporting period.

The implementation of major operational projects and business initiatives led to a number of
transitional one-off costs, which resulted in a 15 per cent increase in expenses in the
December 2002 half-year, but importantly the company maintained its 42 per cent EBITDA
margin

Aithough the growth in revenue, profit and customer numbers this half-year was
encouraging, the Company is committed to a process of continuous improvement and cost
reduction in the second half of this financial year.

The company continues to evaluate the homespring cooler opponunlty in the international
market.

“Overall the company is well positioned, with the new operational efficiencies expected to
enhance the company's future financial performance,” Keim said.

About Neverfail Springwater

Neverfail Springwater was established in 1987, and has been listed on the Australian Stock
Exchange since July 1996,

Neverfail pioneered the delivery of bulk bottled water and cooler rental in the Australian
market,

Through a combination of organic growth and a series of acquisitions in key markets,
Neverfail has subsequently consolidated its position as the number 1 provider of chilled
springwater in the Australian market.

it has established market share in alil major Australian cities, with an initial focus on the
commercial sector now being complemented by continued expansion into the residential
market.

L For further information, call Chris Muldoon on 02 8437 9968 or 0411 157 914,
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Appendix 4B (rule 4.13(b))
Half yearly/preliminary final report

Rules 4.1, 4.3

Appendix 4B (rule 4.13(b))
Half yearly

ntedoced GTIMKG Armanded 30422001,

Name of entity

[Neverfail Springwater Limited J

AUN Half vearly Preliminary Hult vear/tinancial vear ended {‘current period”)
(tick) final (tick)

13003 539 519 Y 31 December 2002

For announcement to the market

Ixtracts from this report for gnnouncement to the market (see hote 1). SA'000)
Revenues from ordinary activities gitem 1.1) Up 15% To 37,174
Larnings before interest, taxation, and amortisation Up 13% To 11,281
Famnings before depreciation, interest , taxation, wnd  Up 4% Ta 15431
amartisation
Profit (loss)from ordinary eetivities after tax (before tlp 8% To 5,768
amortisation of goodwil!) attributable o members (ifem
L2
1'votit (toss) from ordinary activities after tax attributable to” Up 9% To 4,942

members (e 1.23)

Protit (loss) from ordinary activities before tax attributable  Up 22% To 7.477
10 members

Profit (loss) fram extraordinary items afier tax attributable  Gain (loss) NIL
1> members (item 2.5(cd)) of
Net profit (loss) for the period altributable to members Up 9% To 4,942

tisem 4 11)

Dividends (distributions) Amount per security Franked amount per
security

Vinal dividend (Preliminary final report only - -

-item 15.4) ,

Interim dividend (Half yearly report only - ftem 15.6) 4.4¢ 4.4¢

Previous corresponding period (Prefiminary final report -
item 15.5: half yearly report - item 15.7) 4.4¢ 4.4¢

! Sce chupter 19 for defined ters

30972001 Appendix 48 Page |

MRV TS I TO RN
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Appendix 4B (rule 4.13(b))
Half yearly/preliminary final report

‘Recory
dividend

market

(i the case of a trust, distibulion) fsee item 15.2)

dote dor delermining entitiements to the

31 MARCH 2003

Hrief explanation of omission of directional and percentage changes w protit in accordance with Note |
and short details of any bonus or cash issue or other item(s) of importance not previousty released to the

Consolidated profit and loss account

Current period -
SA'000

Previous
corresponding period -
$A'00

1. Revenues from ordinary activitics 37,174 32,381
1.2 Fxpenses from ordinary activitics (see items /.24 (26,719} (23,244)
125+ 12.6)
(" Borrowing costs (2,978) {2,993)
1.4 Share ot net profit (loss) of associates and joint - .
venture entities (see ftem 16.7)
1.5 Profit (less) from ordinary activities before tax 7,477 6,144
1.0 Income tax on ordinary activities (see nofe below: (2.53%) {1.596)
1.7 Profit (loss) from ordinary activities after tax 4,942 4,548
t 8 Profit (loss) from extraordinary items after tax - -
(see ilem 2.3)
1.9 Net profit (loss) 4,942 4,548
L Net protit {foss) atributable w outside +cquily
interesls - -
L.t Net profit (foss) for the period attributable to 4,942 4,548

members

¢ See chapter 19 for defined terms

307972001
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Appendix 4B (rule 4.13(b))
Half yearly/preliminary final report

Consolidated retained profits

P12 Retained profits (accumulated losses) at the (67,155)
beginning of the financial period (65.865)
4548
[RR! Net profit (foss) attributable to members (em 4.942
1 '
(RE} Net transfers to and from reserves
113 Net effect of changes in accounting policies 1123 .
1i6 Dividends and other equity distributions paid or (4.123) (4,096)
pavable ) i
117 Retained profits (accumulated losses) al end (60,923) (66,703)
of financial period '

Profit restated to exclude Current period Previous corresponding
.. - SA'000 period
Amortisation of goodwill $A'000
PR Profit (Joss) from ordinary activitics after tax
before outside equity interests (items /[.7) and 5,768 5.362
amortisation of goodwill
f1y Less (plus) outside Tequity interests - -
1.20 Profit (loss) from ordinary activities after tax
{before amortisation of goadwill) attributable 5.768 5.362
to members

Profit (loss) from ordinary activities attributable to members

Current period Previous corresponding
SA'000 period
$A'000
(g Profit (loss) from ordinary activities after tax 4,942 4,548
(item 1.7)
ha Less (plus) outside Tequity intercsts - -
1.23 Profit (loss) from ordinary activities after 4,942 4,548
1ax, attributable 1o members

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms,

30972000

I A L ST EEM N

Appendix 4B Puge 1
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Appendix 4B (rule 4.13(b)}
Half yearly/preliminary final report

Revenue and expenses from ordinary activities
SASE 104 requires disclosiere of specific categories of reventie and AASB 1018 requires disclosure of expenses from
ordinary aetevities aecarding 1o either their nature of function. Entities must report details of revenue and expenses
from ordmary aclivities using the lavout employed in their accounts. See also items 12.1 16 12.6.

Current period Previous corresponding
SA000 period
$SA'000
1.24 [etails of revenue and expenses
Revenues from sale of goods 36,916 32.322
Cost of sales (4.348) (3.709
Grass Profit 32,568 28,613
Other revenues from ordinary activities 258 59
Distribution (7.168) (6.058)
Administration (6,797) (6.127)
Markcting (2.432) (2,110
Depreciation and leases (5.148) (4.426)
Profit fram ordinary activities before 11,281 9,951
income 1ax, interest and amortisation
cxpense (EBITA)
Amortisation (826) {B14)
Borrowing costs (2,978) {2,993)
| Profit from ordinary activities before tax 7,477 6,144
Income tax expense (2.535) (1.596)
Profit from ordinary activities after tax 4,942 4,548
Intangible and extraordinary items
Consoliduted -- current period
Before tax Related tax Related Amount  (aRer
SA'GO0 $A'G00 outside *equity | tax) attributable
interests 1 members
$A'0D00 $A'G00
(8) (h) (c) (d)
20 Amortsation of goodwill 447 447
22 Amortisation of other 379 379
inwngibles
13 Total amortisation of 820 826
intangibles
R bixtraordinary items B -
{details)
2.5 Total extraordinary ilems . -
1 Kee chapter 19 for defined terms,
Appundix 4B Page 4 307972001

PUvalar T TP a1 ey
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Appendix 4B (rule 4.13(b))
Half yearly/preliminary final report

Comparison of half year profits
tPrelminary final report onty)

Consolidated profit ¢(loss) from ordinary
activitics after tax attributable to members

reported for the 757 half vear (item 1.23 in the

half yearly report)

Consolidated profit (loss) from ordinary

activities after tax attributable to members for

the 2ned half vear

Current year - SA'000

Previous year - SA'000

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Consolidated balance sheet

At end  of
current  perind

As shown in last
annual report

As in last haif
vearly report

$A000 $A'060 $A'000
Current assets
Cash - - -
-. Receivables 8.813 3,755 7,407
- Investments - - -
- Inveniories 1.953 813 964
- Other (provide dewils if materiat) 6.005 4496 3,880
40 Total current assets 16,771 11,064 12,251
Non-current assets
W Receivables - - -
N Investments (equity accounted) - - -
W Other investments - - -
s Inventories - - -
-t Exploration and evaluation expenditure - - -
capitalised (see para .71 of 4455 1022)
-2 Development  propertics  (*mining - - -
entities)
R Other property, plant and equipment 52.816 52412 50,269
(net)
< Intangibles (net) 24,258 24,791 25,570
- i3 Other {provide details if material) 1.070 1.094 1,263
446 Total non-current asscts 78,144 78,297 71102
307 Total assets 94,915 89,361 89,353

Sce chapter 19 for defined terms,

/92001

LV

FRANTI T TL IS8 RRY

Appendix 48 Page §
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Appendix 4B (rule 4.13(b))
Haif yearly/preliminary final report

Current liabilities

4.0n Pavables 2,607 3,016 2,578
4 1Y Interest bearing liabilities 3,748 1,173 3413
420 Provisions 2,115 5,729 5,550
4.2 Other (provide details i material) 708 691 696
4.22 Total current liabilitics 9.178 10,609 12,237

Non-current liabilities
4.23 Payables - - -
4.24 Interest bearing liabilities 62,000 62,000 62,000
4,28 Provisions 7.832 7,838 8,452
4.20 Other (provide details if material)
4.27 Total nan-current liabilities 69,832 69,835 70,452
4.28 Total liabilities 79,010 80,444 82,689
4.29 Net assets 15,905 8,917 6,664

Consolidated balance sheet continued

Equity
430 Capital/contributed cquity 76,828 74,782 73,367
4.3 Reserves - - -
4.32 Rewined profits (accumulaied losses) {60,923) (65.865) (66,70)
4.33 Equity attributable to members of the

parent entity 15,908 8,917 6,664
43 Qutside “equity interests in controtled

entities - . -
4.35 Total equity 15,905 8,917 6,664
.50 Preference capital included as part of

4.33

1 See chapter 19 lor defined terms,

3079/2001
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Appendix 4B (rule 4.13(b))
Half yearly/preliminary final report

Exploration and evaluation expenditure capitalised
‘o he compleled anly by entities with mining interests if amounts are materiaf. Include all expenditure incurred
regardless aof whether written off directiv aguinst profit.

5.0

Opening batance
bxpenditure incurred during current period
lxpenditure written off during current period

Acquisitions, disposals, revaluation
merements, ete.

Expenditure transferred to Development
IProperties

Closing balance as shown in the
consolidated balance sheet (item 4.77)

Current period
$A'000

Previous  corresponding
period - $A'000

Development properties

To be completed only by entities with mining interests if amounts are materiad)

Opening balance

Lspenditure incurred during current period
Fxpenditure transterred from exploration and
cvaluation

Lxpenditare written off during cucrent period
Acquisitions, disposals, revaluation
increments, ele.

ixpenditure transferred W mine properties

Closing balance as shown in the
consolidated balance sheet (ifem 4.12)

Current period $A'000

Previous
corresponding
Period - $A'000

Sce chapter 19 for defined tenms.

922000

Lrabier S S SN dee

Appendix 48 Page 7
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Appendix 4B (rule 4.13(b))
Half yearly/preliminary final report

Consolidated statement of cash flows

Cash flows related to operating activities

Current period
HA GO0

Previous corresponding
¢riod - SA'000

71 Receipts from customers 33,165 32,672
7.2 Payments to suppliers and employces (22.483) (22,582)
7.3 Dividends received from associates - -
7.4 Other dividends received - -
7.3 Interest and other tems of similar nature
. 3 6
received
7.4 Interest and other costs of (inance paid (2,978) (2,993)
.7 Income taxes paid (2.598) (2.033)
7.8 Other (provide details if material) - -
7.9 Net operating cash flows s112 5,069
Cash flows rclated to investing activities
7.10 Puyment for purchases of property. plant and (5.530) (7.059)
cquipment
Pl Proceeds  from  sale of property, plant and 252 208
cquipment
112 Payment for purchases of equity investments - -
7.3 Proceeds from sale of equity investments - -
7.4 Loans o other entities - -
TR lLoans repaid by other entities - -
706 Other (provide details i material) (332) {1,774
7.37 Net investing cash flows (5,610 (8,622)
Cash flows related to financing activities
TR Proceeds  from  issues of “securities  (shares,
options, cte.)
719 Proceeds from borrowings - 2,000
7.20 Repavient of borrowings - -
7.24 Dividends paid (2.077) {1,791)
722 Other (provide details if maerial) - -
723 Net financing cash flows (2,077) 209
724 Net increase (decrcase) in cash held (2,578) (3,344)
323 Cash at beginning of period )
(see Reconciliation of cashj (L1713 (69)
726 Fxchange rate adjustments o item 7.235. - -
7.27 Cash at end of period (3,748) (3,413)
fsee Reconciliation of cash)
! See chapter 19 for defined tenns.
Appendix 3B Pape 8 30972001
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Appendix 4B (rule 4.13(b))

Half yearly/preliminary final report

Non-cash financing and investing activities
Detaity of financing and investing transactions which hove had a material ¢ffect on consolidated assets ond liabilities
put did not involve cash flows are as follows. If an amownt is quontified, show comparative amount.

NiL

Reconciliation of cash

Reconcilintion of cash at the end of the peviod (as
shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows) ©
the related items in the accounts is as foliows.

Current period
$A'000

Previous
Correspondiag
Period - $A'000

8.1 Cush on hand and at bank

8.2 Depasits at call

83 Bank overdratt (3.748) 3.413)
8.4 Other (provide details) - b
8.5  Total cash at end of period (item 7.27) {3,748) (3,413)
- See chapter 19 for defined terms
30/9/2001 Appendix 413 Page 9

Dbt e 3 e
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Appendix 4B (rule 4.13(b))
Half yearly/preliminary final report

Ratios

Profit before tax / revenue

Current period

Previous
corresponding
Periad

7477737174 =20%

6,144 /32,381 = 19%

vt Consolidated profit (Joss) from ordinary
activilies before tax (ifem 1.5) as a percentage
ol revenue (item 1.1)
Profit after tax / "equity infercsts

4.2 Conselidated net profit (foss) from ordinary

activities afier tax atributable to members
{itens 1.9) as u percentage of equity (similarly
attributable) at the end of' the period (item
4.33)

4,942/15905 =31"%

4.548 1 6,564 = 68%

Earnings per security (EPS)

Current period

Previous
corresponding period

1 Caleulation of the following in accordance

with AASB 1027 Earnings pee Shure

el 5. 4.9¢
ia)  Basic IPS 53¢ ¢
15) Diluted GPS (3 materially different S.0c 4.7¢
from (a))
) Weighted average num}?er of ordmfxry 94.094.407 92,697,304
shares outstanding during the period
used in the calewlation of the Basic
1:PS
NTA backing Current period Previous corresponding
period
111 Netangible asset backing per *ordinary (8.8)c (20.3)
SCeurity
Details of specific receipts/outlays, revenues/ expenses
Current period Previous
$A000 corresponding  period
- SA'D00
12 interest revenue included in determiniag item 6 6
1.3
12.2 Interest revenue included in item 12.1 but not - -
yet reeeived (if° material)
12004 Interest costs excluded from borrowing costs,
capitalised in asset values
 Nee chapter 19 for defined enins
Appendis 413 Page 10 30/9/2001
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124 Outlays (except those arising from the - -
‘sequisition of an existing business)
capitalised in intangibles (if material)

o
o
e

12,3 Depreciation and smortisation {excluding 4,150 ER
amortisation of intangibles)

12.6 Other specific relevant items not shown in - -
item 1,24
tsee note 15)

Control gained over entities having material effect

(RS} Name of entity {or group of
entities) N/A

132 Consolidated profit (foss) from ordinary activitics and
extraordinary items atter tax of the entity (or group of N/,
entities) since the date in the curvent period on which

control was Facquired

123 1ate from which such profit has been caleulated N/A

13.4 PProfi (loss) from ordinary activities and extraordinary
items after tax of the entity (or group of entities) for the N/A
whole of the previous corresponding period

L.oss of control of entities having material effect

ER Name of entity (or group of
entities) N/A

4.2 Consolidated protit (loss) from ordinary activities and
extraordinary items after tax of the entity (or group of’ N/A
entities) for the current period to the date of loss of control

4.2 Date to which the profit (loss) in item 14.2 has been

calculated NIA

14,4 Consolidated profit (loss) from ordinary activitics and
extraordinary items afier tax of the entity (or group of N/A
entities) while controlfed during the whole of the previous
corresponding period

1 S¢e chupter 19 Tor defined tenmns,

3072001 Appendix 483 Puge 11
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14.3 Contribution 1o consolidated profit (Joss) from ordinary
activities and extraordinary iwems from sale of interest

leading 10 loss of control

N/A

Reports for industry and geographical segments
Information on the indusiry and geographical segments of the entity must be reporied for the curremt perivd in
accordunce with AASB 1005: Financial Reporting by Segments.  Because of the different structures employed by
entdics, a pro farma iy nol provided.  Segment information should he completed separately aond altached 1o this
repors Howeves, the following is the presentotion odopted in the Appendices tv AASB 1003 and indicaies which

amounis should agree with items included elvewhere in this report.

Fhe conselidated entity operates entirely in Australia and is engaged in the bottling, marketing and

distribution of spring water.

Dividends {in the case of a trust, distributions)

13 Nate the dividend (distribution) is payable

152

received by 5.00 pm if Fsecurities are not YCHESS
approved, or security holding balances established by 5.00
pm or such later time permitted by SCH Business Rules if

*sevurities are TCHESS approved)

- FRecord date to determine entitlements to the dividend
(distribution) {ie, on the basis of registrable transfers

07 APRIL 2003

31 MARCH 2003

133 1T is a final dividend, has it been declared? N/A
tPreliminary final report only)
Amount per security
Amount per Franked Amount per
security amounl per security of
security at foreign source
30% tax dividend
(Preliminary final report only)
15.4 | Final dividend: Current vear N/A¢ N/A ¢ N/A¢
15.5 Previous vear N/A¢ N/AE NiA¢
(Half yearly and preltminary fined reporisi
156 | Interim dividend: Current year 4.4¢ 4.4¢ 4.d4¢
15.7 Previous vear 4.4¢ 4.4¢ 4.4¢
i See chapter 19 for defined tenns.
Appendis 41 Page 12 30/9/2001
(RS AL IO
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‘Total dividend (distribution) per security (interim p/us final)

(PPreliminary final report only)
Pa.K *Ordingry securities

b . + s
RN Preference Tsecurities

Current vear Previous year

N/AE N/A¢

N/AE

N/Ag

Half yearly report - interim dividend (distribution) on 2ll securities or
Preliminary final report - final dividend {(distribution) on all securities

IS0 "Ordinary securities

1511 Preference Fsecurities
15.12 Other equity instruments
15.13 Taotal

Current period Previous corresponding
SA'N0H Period - $A'000
4,170 4.096
4,170 4,09

The ‘dividend or distribution plans shown below are in operation.

Neverfail Dividend Reinvestment Plan.

lYor the interim dividend, there will be no discount on shares issued under the Dividend

Reinvestment Plan.

T he lust date(s) for receipt of election notices for the
*Jividend or distribution plans

31 MARCH 2003

Any other disclosures in relation to dividends (distributions)

NIt

1 See chapter 19 for defined tevns.

2001
S okt

R R Y e
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Details of aggregate share of profits (losses) of associates and joint venture

entities
Current perind Previous
SA'000 corresponding period
- $A'000
. . , - N N/A N7A
to} Profit (loss) from ordinary activitics before
income tax
} . " N/A N/A
! Income tax an ordinary activitics
. . N/A N/A
16.3 Profit (Yoss) from ordinary activities after
income tax
. . , . N N/A N/A
R} Exvaordinary items net of tax
N/, N/A
16.8 Net profit (loss) A
" o N/A N/A
Y Owside Yequity interests
N/A N/A
16.7 Net profit (loss) attributable to members

Material interests in entities which are not controlled entities

The econnmic entiry has an interest (that is material W itj in the following entities. If the interest was acquired or
disposed of durmg either the curreat or previous corresponding period, indicate date of acquisiion {“frum
xxaev vy o disposal (1o xxexAext.

Name of entity Percentage of ownership interest | Contribution to net profit (loss) (item
held at end of period or date of 1.9)
disposul
17.1 Equity accounted (','ulljrcn! F‘*rt?vh')us - Cur.ran period - I?l'u\fi?us .
associates and period (.on"es.pondmg $A'000 wr.rc.spof\dlmg
joint venture period period- $A'00
entities
N/A N/A N/A
N/A N/A
17.2  Votal
N/A N/A
17,8 Other material
interests
N/A N/A
17.4 Total

© Nee chapter 19 for defined terms

:\1)pc11&!§§ 413 Page 14 30/972001
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Issued and quoted securities at end of current period

Diescription includes rate of interest and any redemptinn or conversion rights together with prices und doles.

Issue Amount
Category of Tsecurities Total number Number quoted price per paid up
security per
{see note | securily
14) (sec
(cents) note 14)
{cents)
18.1 Preference tsecurities N/A N/A N/A N/
tdescription)
182 Changes  during  current
period
() {ncreases through issues N/A N/A N/A N/A
(b) Decreases through
returns of capital, buybacks,
redemptions
| It - -
18.3 +Ordinnry secorities 94,779,253 94,779,253
R4 Changes  during  current
period
(@) [ncreases through issues 1,077,022 1,077,022 $1.90 £1.90
(b) Decreases through - - - -
returns of capital, buybacks
18.5 *Convertible debt N/A N/A N/A N/A
securitios {description and
comversion fuctor)
186 Changes during current
period
(a) [ncreases through issues N/A N/A N/A N/A

(b) Decreases through
securities matured,
converted

« ~see chapter 19 for defined terins.,

WH2001
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18.7 Options (description and Exercise | Expiry
comversion fucior) Price Date
(if any)
4,445.295 NIL Varied Varied
18 K Issued during curremt period 130,000 Nil $2.18 Varied
18 xereised during current NIL NiL N/A N/A
perind
1319 Lixpired during current 10000 NIL $3.35 Varied
period 50,000 NIL $3.39 Varied
50,000 NIL $3.35 Varied
41,667 NIL $2.00 Varied
18.11 Debentures (tatats only) - )
1842 Unsecured notes (fotals . )
nnl))

Comments by directors

Crmments on the following matters are required by ASN or, in vetation fo the half yearly report, by A4ASB 1029:
Half-Yeur decounts and Consolidated Accowns,  The comments do not ke the place of the directors' report and
stiterncid fas required by the Carporations Act) and may be incorporated into the directors' report and statement.
For o half vearly and prelimiary final veports, if there are no comments in a section, state Nil.. If theve is
msufficient space 10 conpnent, Quach notes 1o His report. »

Basis of accounts preparation

1 thes reporeis a half vearly report, it is a general purpose financial report prepared in accordance with the listing
rulex and AASH 1029: Half-Year Accounts and Consoliduated Accounts. 1t shonld he read in conjunction with the lust
amnual report and any announcements to the market made by the entity during the period. [Delete if pretiminary
final statement. |

Mauterial factors affecting the revenues and expenses of the economic entity for the current period
NI

A deseription of cach event since the end of the current period which has had a malerial effect and is not
related 10 matiers already reported, with financial effect guantified (if possiblc)
NI

v Sce chapter 19 for defined terms,

Appendix 413 Page 16 30/9/2001
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Franking credits availuble and prospects for paying fully or partly franked dividends for at least the next
Lear

The Directors believe sufficient franking credits will be available to pay franked dividends in the next
twelve months.

¢hanges in accounting policies since the last annual report are disclosed as follows.
viusclose changes i the kalf yearh: report in accordance with AASB 1029: Half-Year Accounts amd Consolidoted

davounts, Diselose changes i the preliminary final report in accordance with AASB 1001: Accounting Policies-

Disclosure.

Change in accounting policy for providing for dividends
Provision is only made for the amount of any dividend declared, determined or publicly recommended by
the directors on or before the end of the half - vear but not distributed at balance date,

[he above policy was adopted with effect from 1 July 2002 to comply with AASE 1044 Provisions,
tlontingent Liabilitics and Contingent Assets released in October 2001 and applied to the half-year ended
11 December 2002, In previous periods in addition o providing for the amount of any dividends declored,
determined or publicly recommended by the directors on or before the end of the period but not
diswributed at balance date, provision was made lor dividends to be paid out of retained profits at the end
ofthe perind where the dividend was proposed, recommended or declared between the end of the period
and the completion of the financial report.

Additional disclosure for trusts

9.1 Number of units held by the management | N/A
company or responsibfe entity or their
related partics.

2 A swtement of the fees and commissions | N/A
payable to the management company or
responsible entity.

ldentify:

. initial service charges
. management fees

. other fees

Annual meeting
Preliminary final report onfy)

"he annual meeting will be held as follows:

Place NiA

[RE d

Ve N/A

+ See chapter 19 for defined tenns,
92001 Appendix 48 Page 17
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. , . N/A
Approximate gate the 'anaual report witl be
available

1 See chapter 19 for defined teoms,

Apperdin 413 Page 18 30/972001
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Compliance statement

This report has bsen prepared under accounting policies which comply with accounting
standards as defined in the Corporations Act or other standards acceptable to ASX (see
note 12).

Identify other standards used N/A

This report, and the “accounts upon which the report is based (if separate), use the same
accounting policies.

his report does give a true and fair view of the matters disclosed (see note 2).
H T'his report is based on “accounts to which one of the following applies.

The ‘accounts have been The “accounts have been
audited. ! subject to review.

The ‘accounts are in the The “accounts have nor vet
D process of being audited or D been audited or reviewed.
subject to review.
~ If the audit report or review by the auditor is not aftached, details of any qualifications
are aftached/will follow immediately they are available* (delete one). (Half yearly
report only « the audit report or review by the auditor must be attached (o this report if

this report is o satisfv the requirements of the Corporations Act.)

n T'he entity has a formally constituted audit committee.

Sign here:
(Director/Company Secretary)

Print name: Geoff Tomlinson

- Sce chupter 19 for defined tenms,

2001 Appeadix 4B Page 19
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[ndependent review report to the members 11

Mhis financial report covers Neverfail Springwater Limited and its controlled entities.

['his tinuncis) repont does not include all the notes of the type normally included in an annual financial report. Accordingly,
this report is o be read in conjunction with the annual report for the year ended 30 June 2002 and any public
announcements made by Neverfail Springwater Limited during the interim reporting period in accordance with the
continuous disclosure requirements of the Corporations Act 2001,

Nevertail Springwater Limited is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Its registered
office and principal place of business is;

Neverfail Springwater Limited
/o McBBumncey & Partners
level 7

20 Lofus Street

Sydney NSW 2000,

A deseription of the nature of the consolidated entity's operations and its principal activities is included in the review of
operations included in the directors® report on the following pages.
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Neverfail Springwater Limited and controlled entities
Directors’ report

Yaour directors present their report on the consolidated entity consisting of Neverfai] Springwater Limited and the

entitics it controlled at the end of, or during, the haif-year ended 31 December 2002.

Directors

The follewing persons were directors of Neverfail Springwater Limited during the whole of the half-year and up to the

date ol this report:

GoA Tomlinson (Chairman)
S Keim

JK Foa

M N Rich

1R Hideli 11t

Mr M Hilliam resigned as a director on 15 November 2002,
Mr M [ Carnegic resigned as a directoron 11 December 2002,

Review of Operations :

A summary of consolidated revenue and results for Nevertait Springwater Limited is set out below:

2002 2001

31 December 31 December

$°600 $°000

Revenue from operating activitics 36,916 32322
Revenue trom outside the operating activities 258 Y
Towal Revenue 37,174 32,381
GRIEA 11,281 9,951
interest (2,978) (2,993)
Amortisat:on _(826) {814)
Profit betore ax 7,477 6,144
Income s expense (2,535) {1.596)
Net profit after tax 4,942 4.548*
liamings per share 53¢ 4.9c*
tulls frunked interim dividend 4.4c 4.4c
Cooler Customers 110,126 103,035

I'he Board of Dircetors of Neverfail Springwater Limited today reported a broad increase in growth indicators for the six-
month period 10 31 December 2002, with major highlights including a 15 per cent increase in revenue to $37.174 million

and a 22 per cent increase in net profit before tax to $7.477 million.

Net profit after tax wose by 9 per cent 1o $4,.94 million, while EBYTDA increased by 14 per cent to $15.43 million.

Neverfail also increased its customer base by seven per cent 10 110,120, while customer churn continues o trend

downwards and is now seven per cent less than what was recorded in the December 2001 reporting period.

© Netprolin after tax i the Decemnber 2001 reporting period was inflated by a one-ofT tax credit. Without this tax credit, NPAT in 2004
would have been $4.06m instead of $4.54m and theretore, on u like for like tax basis, the NPAT in 2002 would have been 22% more than

{or the corresponding period last year.
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Neserfail s continued focus on qualily customer growth and the implementation of major operutional projects and business
initiutives did result in a number of transitional one-off costs which resulted in a 15 per cent increase in expenses in the
Vecembur 2002 hatf=vear. One-olT costs will be less in the second half of the year,

Although the growth in revenue, profit and customer numbers in this half-year was encouraging , as was the Company’s
ability 1o maingain a margin of 42 per cent EBITDA, the Company is committed to a process of continuous improvement
and cost reduction in the second half of this financial year.

The Coampany has benefited from warm weather since December 2002. As an indication of that, Directors reported thal
waler revenuc in January 2003 was 13 per cent greater than the water revenue achieved in January 2002.

The Company is on track to meet its full year forecasts for the 2003 financial year, which would result in @ year-on-year
increase in undertying net profit after tax of between 27 per cent (812.1 million) and 33 per cent ($12.8 million).

In accordance with the Company’s continuing strong financial performance, Directors also declared a fully franked interim
dividend of 4.4 cents for the December half-year. (Record date 31 March 2003, payment date 7 April 2003.)

Operational initialives
(iperational initiatives undertaken or continued in the six-month period to December 2002 contributed strongly to the

Compan 'S suceessiul performanee. They Included:

. Phe wansition from an internal to extemal distribution system is now 70 per cent complete. This initiative will
reduce {ixed costs and lead 1o the establishment of a distribution team with a stronger sales and marketing focus.
However. there have been some transitional one-off costs.

. e roll out of hond held computers to distributors is almost complete. These hand hetd computers provide better
inventory control through the delivery of more timely and accurate duta. Importantly, the system also provides
more comprehensive information and therefore enables routing to become more efficient.

. e successtul implementation of a focused sales program designed 1o extend existing rental agreements.

. Neverfail's NSW operations imoved 0 new premises, delivering major logistical advantages, including greater
production space and better truck aceess. Production has commenced at the new premises,

On an international front, Neverfail's HomeSpring cooler was well received when exhibited at a conference of the
Intemational Bottled Water Assaciation (IBWA) in Arizona. Neverfail is executing a test market study in the USA and
continues its market assessment in Furope. This will enable the Board w0 detenmine its strategic approach by the first half of
2004,

Overall the company is well-positioned, with the new operational efficiencies expected w enhance the company's future
financial performance.

Rounding of amounts to nearest thousand dollars.
The company is of a kind referred to in Class Order 980100 issued by the Australian Securitics and Investments
Commission, relating W the "rounding off” of amounts in the directors' repert and tinancial report. Amounts in the directors’

report and tinancial report have been rounded ofT to the nearest thousand dolfars in accordance with that Class Order.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

G A Temiinsen
Direvtar

Sydney
26 Fehruurs 2003
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Neverfail Springwater Limited and controlled entities
Consolidated statement of financial performance
for the half-year ended 31 December 2002

Notes 2002 2001
$°000 $'000

Revenue from operating activities 36,916 32.322
Revenue from outside the operating activities 258 59
Revenue from ordinary activities 37,174 32381
Expenses from ordinary activitics
Cost of sales (4,348) (3,709)
Distribaticn (7,168) (6,058)
Administrition (6,797) {6,127)
Marketing coests (2,432) (2,110)
Dieprecintion and leases (5,148) (4.426)
Expenses from ordinary activities (excluding amortisation) (25.893) (22.430)
I’rofit from ordinary activities before income tax cxpense, interest 11,281 9.951
cxpense and amortisation
Borrowing casts (2,978) (2,993)
Amonrtisation (826) (814)
Profit from ordinary activities before income tax expense 3 1,477 6,144
Income tax expensc ___(2,535) (1,596)
Net profit attributable to members of Neverfail Springwater Limited 4 4,942 4.548
Nasic carnings per sharc 3.3¢ 4.9¢
Niluted carnings per share 3.0¢ 4.7c
Alternative basic carnings per share (excluding amortisation) 6.1¢ 5.8¢
Alternative diluted carnings per share (excluding amortisation) 5.9¢ 5.5¢

The above consolidated siatement of financial performance should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



98 | Annexure A

Neverfail Springwater Limited and controlled entities
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2002 2002 2001
31 December 30 June 31 December
Notes $'000 $'000 $°000
Current ussets
Cash assers - - -
Reeetvables 8813 5,755 7.407
Inventories 1,953 813 964
her 6,005 4,496 3.880
Total current assels 16,771 11,064 12,251
Non-current assets
Praperty, plant and equipment 52,816 52,412 50,269
Deferred tax assets 675§ 675 R66
{nrangible assers 24,258 24,791 25,570
(ther 395 419 197
T otal non-cuarrent assets 78,144 78,297 77.102
Total assets 94,915 89,361 89,353
Current liabilities
Payables ' 2,607 3.016 2,578
Interest bearing tiabilitics : 3,748 1,t73 3413
Current tax Habilities - - 63
Provisions 1 2,118 5,729 5,487
Other 708 691 696
Total current Habilities 9,178 10,609 12,237
Non-current liabilities
Interest bearing liabilities 62,000 62,000 62,000
Deferred tax Hahilities 7,696 7.695 8315
Provisions 136 140 137
Towl non-current lisbilities 69,832 69,835 70,452
Tota) liabilities 79,010 80,444 82,689
Net asseis 15,9208 8,917 6,664
Equity
Share capital 5 76,828 74,782 73,367
Accumulated fosses 4 (60,923) (65.865) (66,703)
Total equity 15,908 8917 6,664

The above consaliduted statement of financiol position should be read in conjunction with the accompuanying notes.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the half-year ended 31 December 2002

C'ash flows from operating activities
Reeeipts from customers (inclusive of goods and services Lax)
Payments o suppliers and employees (inclusive of goods and services tax)

Interest received
RBorrowing costs
Income taxes paid

Net eush inflow from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Payiment for purchase of controlled entity. net of cash acquired
Payinents for property. plant and equipment
Payments for acquisition of business and related assels
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Net eash outflew from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings
Dividends paid
Net cash inflow / (outflow) from financing activities

Net decrease in cash held
Crverdraft at the beginning of the reporting period
Overdraft at the end of the reporting period

The abive consoliduted statement of cash flows shindd be read in conjunction with the accompanying noles.

6

Notes 2002 2001
$°000 $TO00

33,165 32,672
(22,483) (22,582)

10,682 10,090

6 6
(2.978) (2.993)
(2,598) (2,034)

5,112 5,069

(5:530) (7.059)

(332) (1,771)

252 208
(5,610) (8,622)

- 2,000
5 (2.077) (1.791)
(2,077) 209
{2,575) (3.344)
(1,173) (69)
(3,748) (3413)
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the half-year ended 31 December 2002

Note 1. Basis of preparation of half-year financial report

This general purpose finaneial report for the interim half-year reporting period ended 31 December 2002 has been prepared
in aceordance with Accounting Standard AASH 1029 Interim Financial Reporting, other mandatory professional reporting
requirements {Urgent Issues Group Consensus Views), other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting
Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001,

This tnwerim financial report does not include al the aotes of the type normally included in an annual financial report.
Accordingly. this report is 1o be read in conjunction with the annual report for the year ended 30 June 2002 and any public
announcements made by Neverfail Springwater Limited during the interim reporting period in accordance with the
continuous disclosure requirements of the Corporations Act 2001,

Unless othunwise stated the accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year and
corresponcing interim reporting period.

Change in accounting policy for providing for dividends

Provision is onls made for the amount of any dividend declared, determined or publicly recommended by the directors on
or before the end of the half year but not distributed at balance date.

Yhe abov e policy was adopted with effect from 1 July 2002 to comply with AASE 1044 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets released in October 2001 and applied to the half-year ended 31 December 2002, In previous periods
in addition to providing for the amount of any dividends declared, determined or publicly recommended by the directors on
or before the end of the period but not distributed st balonce date, provision was made for dividends to be paid out of
retained profits at the end of the period where the dividend was proposed. recommended or declared between the end of the
period and the completion of the financial report.

Anadjustment of 34,123,000 was made against (he consolidated retained profits at the beginning of the half year to reverse
the amount provided at 30 June 2002 for the proposed final dividend for the year ended on that date that was recommended
by the directors between the end of the financial year and the completion of the financial report. This reduced the
consolidated current fiabilities, provisions and toal Habilities at the beginning of the halt year by $4,123,000 with
corresponding increases in consolidated net assets, retained profits. total equity and the total dividends provided for or paid
during the current interim period.
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‘I e restatements of consolidated retained prolils, total dividends provided for or paid during the half-year and current
provisions set out below show the information that would have been disclosed had the new accounting policy always been
applied.

2002 2001

31 December 31 December
Restatement of accumulated losses $'000 £'000
Reported fosses at the end of the previous financial vear (65,865) (67.155)
Change in accounting policy W exclude dividends previously provided but not
declared at the vear end 4,123 3.698
Restaed accumuluted Josses at the end of the previous financial year (61,742) {63,45T)
Net profivaltributabie to members of Neverfail Springwater Limited for the half vear 4,942 4.548
Total available for appropriation at the end of the half year (56,800) (58.909)
Dividends declared and paid during the half year (4,123) (3.698)
Restated avcumulated losses at the end of the halt year {60,923) {62,607)
Dividends provided in the period but not declared by the end of the half year - 4.096
Reported accumulated losses at the end of the half vear {60,923) {66,703)
Restatement of total dividends provided for or paid
Reported wtal dividends provided for or paid during the half vear 4,123 4.056
Adjustment for change in accounting policy  (a) - {398)
Restated total dividends provided for or paid during the half year 4,123 3,698
Restatement of current liabilities — provisions
Previously reported carrying amount at the end of the half- year 2,118 5,487
Adjustmem for change in accounting policy - (4.096)
Restated carrving amount at the end of the half year 2,118 139
(i Fhe $398.000 adjustment for the change in accounting policy represents the difference between the dividends

provided at the previous year end but not deelared, and the dividends actually declared and paid during the half
vear period
Note 2. Segment information

The consoliduted entity operates entirely in Australis and is engaged in the bottling, morketing and distribution of spring
water

Note 3. Interest revenue and expense
2002 2001
$'000  $'000
Profit frons ordinury activities before income lax expense js arrived at after:
wai crediting intevest as revenue 6 6
(i charging interest as expense 2,978 2,593
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Neverfail Springwater Limited and controlled entities
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the half-year ended 31 December 2002

Note 4. Accumulated Losses
2002 2002 2001
31 December 30 June 31 December
$°000 £7000 £7000
Aceumulbated fosses at the heginning of the period (65,865) (67.155) (67.155)
Net profit attributable 10 members of Neverfail Springwater Limited 4,942 9,511 4,548
Dividends provided for or paid (4,123) (8.221) (4,096)
Net etfect of change in accounting policy 4,123 - -
Accumuliated fosses at the end of the period (60,923) (635,865) (66,703}
Note §. Dividends
2002 2001
$°000 $°000
Ordinary shares
Dividends paid in cash or satisfied by the issue of shares under the dividend
reinvestment plan during the half vears ended 31 December, are as follows:
Paid in cash 2,077 2,189
Satisfied I issue of shares s 2,046 1,907
4,123 4,096

Dividends not recognised at the end of the half-year
Since the end of the half-vear the directors have recommended the payment of an
towerim dividend of 4.4 cents per fully paid ordinary share, franked at 30%.

The aggregate amount of the proposed interim dividend expected to be paid on 7 April
2003 out of retained protits at 31 December 2002, but not recognised 4s u liability at the
end ot the hutf~year as a resuft of the change in accounting policy for providing for
dividends (noe 1),

4,170 -

Note 6. Contingent liabilities

Nocomingent Habilities have arisen since the fust annual reporting date,
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Neverfail Springwater Limited and controlled entities
Directors’ declaration

‘Ihe directors declare that the financial staternents and notes set out on pages 4 to 9:

1) vomply with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting
reuirements, and

(h)  give atrue and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as a1 31 December 2002 and of its
performance, as represented by the results of its operations and its cash flows, for the half-year ended on that date.

[n the directons” opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that Neverfail Springwater Limited will be uble to pay its
debts s und when they become due and pavable,

Tais declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

GiA Tombinson
Director

Svdoey
26 February 2003

10
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PricewsterhumseCoopers
ABN 52 780 433 757

Darting Park Tower 2
201 Sussex Streat
Independent Audit Report to the Members of GPO BOX 2650

corfail Rnrinow s SYDNEY NS$W [171
Neverfail Springwater Limited DX 77 Sydney
Australia
www.pwegtobal. comiau
Statement Telephone +61 2 8266 0000
Fagsimile +61 2 8266 8999

Hasud on our review, which is not an audit, we have not become aware of any matter that makes us believe
that the financial report. set out on pages 110 10 is not presented in accordance with:

¢ the Corporations Act 2001 in Australia, including giving a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Neverfail Springwater Group (defined below) as at 31 December 2002 and of its performance
for the half-vear ended on that daie

¢ Accounting Standard AASB 1029: Interim Financial Reporting and other mandatory professional
reporting requirements in Australia, and the Corporations Regulations 2001,

Phix statement must be read in conjunction with the following explanation of the scope and summuary of our
rale as auditor.

Scope and summary of our role
The financial report — responsibility and content

[he preparation of the financial report for the half year ended 31 December 2002 is the responsibility of the
directors of Neverfail Springwater Limited. It includes the financial statements for the Neverfail Springwater
Giroup tthe Group), which incorporates Neverfail Springwater Limited and the entities it controlled during
the vear ended 31 December 2002.

The auditor’s role and wark

W e conducted an independent review of the financial report in order for the Company (o lodge the financial
report with the Australian Securities & Investments Commission, Our role was 1o conduct the review in
aceordance with Australian Auditing Standards applicable to review engagements. Qur review did not
involve an analysis of the prudence of business decisions made by the directors or management.

This review was performed in order to state whether, on the basis of the procedures described, anything has
coeme Lo our attention that would indicate that the financial report does not present fairly a view in
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, Accounling Standard AASE 1029: Intecim Financial Reporting
and other mandatory professional reporting requicements in Australia, and the Corporations Regulations
2001, which is consistent with our understanding of'the Group's financial position, and its performance as
represanted by the results of its operations and cash flows.

Fhe review procedures performed were limited primarily w:

e inguiries of company personnel of certain internal controls, transactions and individual items
s analytical procedures applied to financial data.

These procedures do not provide all the evidence that would be required in an audit, thus the level of
assurance provided is less than that given in an audit. We have not perfornied an audit, and uecordingly, we
de not express an audit opinion.
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PRICEVATERHOUSE(COPERS

Independence

As auditor, we are required 1o be independent of the Group and fiee of interests which could be incomypatible
with integrity and objectivity. In respect of this engagement, we followced the independence requirements set
out by The Institute of Chantered Accountants in Australia, the Corporations Act 2001 and the Auditing and
Assarance Standards Board.

1 addition t our statutory audit and review work, we were engaged to underteke other services for the
Group, In our opinion the provision of these services has not impaired our independence.

David Kelly Sydney
Panac: 26 Pebruary 2003



106 | Annexure A

Neverfail Springwater Limited
ABN 43 003 559 519
Level 7, Building 2, 423 Pennant Hills Road
Pennant Hills, NSW 2120
Tel: (02) 94834200

Reply to Registered Office 7 Floor, 20 Loftus Street, Sydney NSW 2000

Telephone: (02) 9241 2651 Facsimile: (02) 9‘;35 3001
FACSIMILE TRANSMISSION

Addressee : Company Announcements Platform

Addressee’s Company . Australian Stock Exchange Limited

Addressee’s Facsimile Number : 1300 300 021

Serder : lan Gordon

Date 1 26 November 2002

Number of Pages (including cover sheet) . 6

Message

Please find attached transcript of an Open Briefing given by the CEQ and CFO of Neverfail
Springwater Limited.

Yoursgsincerely

Company Secretary

The informalion contmined in this facsimile is confidential between Neverfail Springwater Limited and the intended recipicnt. Any other person
receiving this facsimile is required to respect that confideatiality. If this facsimile is received in ewor, please ootify the registered office of Neverail
Springwater Limitad inmediately. !
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Chittvd Sating Fares Sanvite

Attention ASX Company Announcements Platform.
Lodgement of Open Briefing.

Neverfail Springwater Limited
Level 7, Building 2

423 Pennant Hills Road
Pennant Hills NSW 2120

Date of Lodgement: 26-Nov-2002

Title: Open Briefing. Neverfail Springwater. CEO’s Business Update
Record of interview:

corporatefile.com.au

Neverfail Springwater Limited said at its recent AGM it remains confident of
achieving net profit in the target range of $12.0 million 0 $12.8 million in the year
ending June 2003, compared with $9.5 million in the previous year. What
assumptions regarding customer numbers, water consumption and weather
conditions underlie this forecast?

CEO Steve Keim

Broadly, we're asswming customer growth of around 10 percent, which is what
we’ve targetted historically and continue to believe is achievable. Consumption,
we expect to be better than last year, when conditions were very cold, but slightly
below average. And that’s based on the assurption of average westher conditions,
We've taken what we believe is a conservative, responsible view.

corporatefile.com.aun
What has been the trend in these variables in the first.few months of the year
compared with your assumptions?

CFO Simon Finnigan
For the first four months, the trend's been good. We've been ahead of expectations
in terms of consumption per cooler. Our forecasts assume consumption of 581
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litres per cooler, compared with an average, excluding last year, of around 585 to
590 litres. We're tracking ahead of budget after the first four months.

But that needs to be seen in context. The first four months represent only a small
percentage of our total profit. It’s the incremental volume per cooler we get in- the
warmer months that really drives profit. Typically, the first quarter represents 10
percent of full-year EBITDA and the first half about 40 percent

And on a comparison with last year, you have to be aware that the first half wasn't
bad last year. ‘We got hamnmered in January, February, March, our big
consumption months. So this year, we expect a big year-on-year increase in the
second half. ’

corporatefile.com.au

In 2002, Neverfail’s results were hit partly due to a weaker average rental revenue
per cooler customer, reflecting cooler discounts and your reluctance to raise prices
in the adverse weather conditions. To what extent have you been able to recover
last year’s pricing slippage in the current year?

CFO Siroon Finnigan

We approached this project in two ways. Firstly, for our existing customer base,
we're reviewing all anoual remals as they come up for renewal. And our chum
rates have never been better, so we’re very pleased with that. Secondly, we've
stopped our introductory discounting prograrome, and we're reviewing new
customer signings and rentals weekly.

Our target for the year is to get our average rental per customer up to about §197.
Last year the average dropped to $184. Most of our annual recewals come up in
the surnmer months, from November to March, so that's when we'll see the real
effect of the project.

corporatefile.com.an _

Last year, your customer attrition rate fell to 26 percent from 30 percent in the
previous year. Are lower customer churn rates achievable and what would be the
drivers?

CEQ Steve Keim
I think they’rc achievable, And I'd rate continuing improvement in the customer
service level as the primary driver. That’s the focus of an on-going programme
we’'ve had in place for as long a3 we've been in business, There's always room teo
improve our service, through people training, technology, routing systems, and
many other things.

Another thing we can do is add extra value and convenience for the customer by
providing related drinking water products and packaging. For example, having the
600 ml bottles available on the truck along with the larger bottles, or providing our
unique bottle racks, are ways of retaining some customers, because we're the only
company offering that kind of service.
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We'll always lose customers to life cycle chanpes on the residential side. For
example, when the kids leave home and the household water consumption falls.
Tte HomeSpring cooler, which is ideal for smaller famnilies, helps us in that area.
On the commercial side, mergers, acquisitions, and bankyuptcies can reduce owr
customer numbers, but that’s something we have to live with. We still have
opportunities in the commercial market, and it's important for us to pursue them.

corporatefile.com.au

At the AGM, you said external digtributors or franchisees now represent nearly 60
percent of your distribution fleet. Previousty, you’ve said that on the routes you
use distributors, cost per bottle is reduced by 20 cents in the first year. Can you
quantify the expected impact of the increased ratic of external distributors on costs
in the current year and going forward?

CFO Simon Finnigan

It’s important to note that the reason we’re going to distributars isn’t so much cost
as service, We find independent operators are more inclined to go the extra length
for our customers because they’re paid per bottle, Their interests align with ours
and our customers’.

Of course, we looked at the financial model and saw cost benefits for us, given we
don't have to bear the cost of things like truck insurance, fuel and workers comp
for the independents. And importantly, it changes a fixed cost into a variable cost.
So if we do have bad weather conditions, we don’t bear the distribution cost as
well as losing water volume. But we can’t categorically say we're going to save x
amount of dollars by going to distributors. Jt will definitely be cost beneficial but
the big win for us {s that distributors are more inclined to deliver the extra bottles.
They don't want 1 run out of water. Whereas before, frequent water rug-outs
often led to lost revenue for us.

In Sydney and Melboume, most of the independents started around September, 50
we’re not going to get the full benefit this year. And we’ve structured our contracts
with our distributors so that in year cne, we pay two thirds of the lease of the
trucks and in year two, one third We don’t pay in year three. We have to work in 2
partoership with our distributors, so it’s important they make 2 go of it.

At the operational end, we’re disinclined to make significant changes in the middle
of our busy period, so there’s unlikely to be much change in the percentage of
independents over the next several months. But by June 30, close to 70 percent of
our distribution should be in the hands of independents. The plan at this stage is to
keep employees on the inner city routes, sc 75 to 80 percent is pretty much
saturation. '

corporatefile.com.au
At the AGM, you said you've appointed a sales representative in North America
following the positive reception for your HomeSpring residential-use cooler at a
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r=cent industry conference in the US. What are your expectations for the cocler in
the North American and other export markets?

CEO Steve Keim

We see the intemational markets as & low-risk growth oppertunity, In the current
year, we expect the international side to have a neutral impact on eamings. The
reason we foresee little risk is that the primary cost initially is making the coolers
and building an inventory, -and we've done all of that. Under the worst-case
scenario of not selling any HomeSpring coolers overseas, we could still use the
inventory here in Australia for the minimal cost of converting the electrical
component to the Australian standard, And the HomeSpring works well here,
we're very happy with its performance. So the risk in developing new markets is
really only the cost of our marketing efforts, which are fairly low since we're
focussed on selling to about 100 bottling companies around the world.

Having said thal, our target markets of North America and Europe are very
different. In Europe, the boulers are oriented toward the commercial market,
which is growing at about 30 percent a year. And while the bottlers think the
HomeSpring is an exciting product that could open up the residential market for
them, they’re not going to get wildly enthusiastic about a new market while their
main customer base is growing so strongly. So it’s unlikely we’ll sell buge
volumes in the European market in the short term.

The North American market is noticeably different in that there are roughly §
million coolers in the residential segment. And most of the regional markets have
two or three bottlers the size of Neverfail competing aggressively for share. We
see ap opportunity for the HomeSpring in offering some of the bottlers a point of
differentiation from their competitors. We're getting positive responses to the
cooler but don't expect that to transiate into significant orders until at least after
the Northern Hemisphere winter,

So it will take some time before we know whether we’ve got an internationally
viable product here. But we have a degree of optimism about the long-term
prospects.

corporatefile.com.au

Steve, you were recently named by the Bulletin magazine as the best CEO in
Australig, reflecting Neverfail's average retum on equity of 186 percent over the
past three years, placing it top among Australian companies, What have been the
primary drivers of Neverfail’s strong performance?

CEO Steve Keim ' '

It's fundamentally the result of years of team effort and 1 was honoured to
represent the hundreds of people on our team across Australia, from as far away as
Adelaide, Perth and Townsviile. Their hard work and professional commitment to
our customers, plus our single-minded strategy focus and the exceptional attention

of our finance team to cash-flow management, have underpinned our strong
returns.
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corporatefile.com.au
Thark you Steve and Simon.

For previous Open Briefings  with Neverfail ~ Springwater,  Visit

WU au

For more information about Neverfail Springwater, visit www.neverfailcom.ay
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Level 7, Building 2, 423 Pennant Hills Road
Pennant Hillg, NSW 2120 |
Tel: (02) 9483-4200
Reply to Registered Office 7* Floor, 20 Loftus Street, Sydney NSW 2000
Telephone: (02) 9241 2651 Facsimile: (02) 9235 3001
FACSIMILE TRANSMISSION
Addressee : Company Announcements Platform
Addressee’s Company : Australian Stock Exchange Limited
Addressee’s Facsimile Number : 1300 300 021
Sender » Tan Gordon
Date : 15 November 2002
Number of Pages (including cover sheet) : 6
Message

Please find attached a copy of the Chairman’s Address to be given at the Company’s' Annual
general meeting today.

Yours sincerely

.

RDON
Compday Secretary

Auvstralisn S1ock Exchange

NEVC00038

The information contamed in this facsimile & confidential between Neverfail Springwater Limited and the itendea recipient. Any other persom

receiving this facsimile is required to respect that confidentiality, If this facsimile is roceived in o1, please nodfy the registernd office of Noverfal)
Springwater Limited immediately. :
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Neverfail Springwater Limited
ABN 43 003 $59 519

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING - 13 NOVEMBER 2002
CHAIRMAN’S ADDRESS
Before formally commencing the first item of business, 1 would like to provide you with a
brief review of the year and offer some thoughts on the Company’s prospects for the coming
year.
The 2002 financial year was an {mportant year for the company.

Many of the initjatives undertaken during the year héve set the foundation for what the
Board believes will be significant and positive longer-term results.

Today I'll explain in a little more detail the company's financial and operational results for
the 2002 fiscal year and, importantly, also outline some of Neverfail’s major plans and

initiarives for the current financial year

At the end of the formal presentation I will also be happy to answer any questions you may
have on the company’s results, operations and plans for the future.

But first let me revisit the company’s major financial and operating results for the fiscal year
that ended on 30 June, 2002.

A major highlight was the fact that Neverfail SpﬁngWater achieved its fourth consecutive
annual increase in three key areas;

e Revenue

e EBITDA (which, as you probably all know, is the acronym for Eamings Before
Interest Tax Depreciation and Amortisation)

e Total number of cooler customers
What 1s particularly pleasing about achieving growth in these three key areas is the fact that

these results were achieved despite an unusually cold and wet summer in a large part of
Australia,

The company’s traditionally high performing markets of Victoria and South Australia were
pexticularly affected by the dismal summer.
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[rrespective, annual revenue jumped stx per cent to $70 million, while EBITDA grew by two
per cent to $28.2 million. Net Profit after Tax at $9.5 million was 3% ahead of the prior year.
This profit equated to earnings of 10.2 cents per share for the year. The directors declared
fully franked dividends of 8.8 cents per share for the year, an increase of 10% aon the prior
year's dividends.

A key factor in the revenue and earnings growth this year was the company'’s ability to build
its customer base.

The total number of ccoler customers grew by seven per cent in the 2002 financial year,
We are also pleased to report that every Neverfail branch across the country grew its cooler
customer base during the 2002 year — a performance that was also achieved in the previous

vear.

One of the key reasons behind this growth has been the company’s ability to reduce customer
churn, which has fallen-to 26 per cent this year.

I think you will agree that increasing revenue, boosting earnings and growing custoruer
numbers were three excellent achievements in the 2002 financial year, a performance we also

achieved in the previous year.

However, there were a couple of less positive outcomes that did offset the gains made by the
company.

The tirst was the decrease in revenue resulting from reduced water consumption.

In short, our customers drank less water because Australia experienced an unusually cold and
wet sumimer.

Another area of the business that performed below expectation was revenue generated from
cooler rentals.

Average cooler revenue per customer was down due to a short-termn decision to market a
number of older coolers at discounted rates as a means of reducing our jnventory holding.

Financially and commercially, it was the right decision to make but, unfortunately, it means |
we did have to wear some downside in the 2002 firancial year.

However, it was primarily the reduced water consumption that led to Neverfail delivering an
annual financial result that did not meet the expectations of financial matkets.

The subsequent effect on the company’s share price is still being felt, and the situation has
not been helped by the global and local downtum in equity markets.

However, the Board is confident that a tumaround in water consumption is likely this
financial year and, as such, Neverfail is well-placed to regain any market impetus it may have
lost in the last 5ix months.

Operationally, the company continues to surge ahead.
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] would like to briefly summarisc just some of the company’s key operational achievements
during the 2002 financial year.

A major achicvement for Neverfail was the successful launch of our HomeSpring cocler into
the Australian market.

The HomeSpring cooler was directly responsible for attracting 5,000 new customers in the
three months immediately following its launch. Importantly, this was achieved without
cannibalising our existing residential customer base.

We belicve the Neverfail HomeSpring cooler has the potential to significantly increase the
penetration into the residential spring water market, with both local and international
implicatons.

A global patent protects the HomeSpring cooler.

The cooler was launched after three years of extensive research and development. The end
product meets the unique needs of the residential market.

It is designed in such a way that it can sit on kitchen benchtops without interference from
overhead cupboards. Aesthetically, it sits comfortably in modern households, which is a key
1ssue when selling to the residential market.

The response rates to advertisements that feaure the new HomeSpring cooler were noticeably
higher than what we have achieved in the past.

Another interesting point is that it appears that the water consumption of customers with
HomeSpring Coolers is higher than that of other residential customers.

All up, we are pleased with the launch of the new HomeSpring cooler and we are optimistic
about its continuing success.

Another major achievement in the 2002 fiscal year was the commencement of our
Distributorship program.

The appointment of external contractors — many of whom were previously long-term
employees of Neverfail ~ to manage the distribution of Neverfail products will deliver
significant benefits across the board.

The reality is that an independent distributor with a contract to deliver Neverfail products has
the same inherent motivation as the company itself.

t
The contracted distributor values the customer; is willing to go the extra yard in terms of
customer service; and has a vested interest in keeping customers for the long-term.

The distributors also have a tangible asset and are therefore motivated to increase its value by
continually building their customer base and driving sales.

Our new television advertising campaign was also successfully launched in the 2002 finaacial
year.
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The campaign - which was highlighted by a new creative execution based on the term
‘Mums Talk About Neverfail”- successfully helped us meet our new customer targets despite
the unseasonably cold summer.

Another significant development during the 2002 financial year was the improvement in
branch seiling activities.

We attracted 5,900 new cooler rental customers from direct sales activity, which was a 100
per cent increase on last year’s results.

Qur efforts to build sales through the Neverfail branch network is definitely beginning to bear
fruit, and we believe it is a sales channel that offers significant growth potential.

[he use of technology to deliver improvements in service, efficiencies and profitability
continued successfully throughout the 2002 financial year.

We established a service-oriented website that allows our customers to place orders, pay their
bill or change their contact details.

We have also established an automated phone system that offers e similar range of services.

Both the phone and Internet facilities are available 24 hours a day, seven days a week.

These levels of service and convenience are unprecedented in the Australian spring water
market.

I would now like 10 provide you with a brief update on Neverfail's progress over the first few
months of the 2003 financial year.

We recorded unaudited double-digit growth in sales, EBITDA and net profit after tax in the
first quarter of this fiscal year,

However, it needs to be pointed out that the July, August and September months traditionally
only account for 10 per cent of our annual EBITDA.

October results have exceeded our internal budgets and al] in all it has been a very positive
start to the year,

Three of our major logistical projects are also nearing completion, and will lead to a higher
level of customer service and increased efficiencies in distribution and production.

The first project is the moving of our NSW operations from Pennant Hills to Blacktown.

The new premises have been designed to deliver major logistical advantages, including
expanded production capacity and better truck access.

Another major logistical project nearing completion and already delivering significant
benefits is the rollout of hand-held computers to our distribution network. ‘

These hand-held computers streamline the distribution cycle, improve customer services and
produce more timely and accurate data. Importantly, the systern provides more
comprehensive information, which results in more efficient routing,
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Distributors in all states except South Australia are now using hand-held computers. The
South Australian roll out will be completed this financial year.

| talked earlier about the cootinued successful implementation of our distributor program
during the 2002 financial year. The implementation of this program continues to exceed our
expectations, with external distributors or franchisees now representing almost 60 per cent of
our total distribution fleet.

While 1t is early days, we belicve that the benefits of establishing a contracted distribution
team are coming to fruition.

Reducing customer churn is one of the company's key performance measurements, and a
strong indicator that our service standards are improving and leading to better customer
retention

Customer chum in the first quarter of this year is 11 percent lower than for the corresponding
pericd last year. This is an excellent result and, if sustained, will deliver significant financial
benefits.

On the international front, our unique HomeSpring cooler was very well received when
presented to the International Bottled Water Association at a conference in Arizona last
month,

The pos:tive reaction and the sales leads we received at the conference have encouraged us to
appoint a sales representative in North America.

We will keep you informed of our international progress with the product.

At this stage, it would be remiss of me not to provide you with some indication of Neverfail’s
prospects for the remainder of this financial year.

Coming off a vear with lower than normal consumption, it is reasonable to anticipate a retum
to normal weather patterns will deliver a strong rebound in volume per customer.

With 7 per cent more customers than we had at this stage last year, we can expect to enjoy the
financial benefits of having more customers drinking moze water.

On top of this our continued emphasis on containing costs in conjunction with the benefits
gained from the previously outlined projects, ensures that we remain confident of meeting our
previously stated net profit afier tax objectives of between $12 and $12.8 milliop versus $3.5
million last year, ,
Australia continues to be a strong growth market driven by more people valuing the taste and
kealth benefits of spring water, together with the convenience of home or office delivery and
ready-to-serve chilled water,

The market opportunity is robust.
Neverfail is in an outstanding position to take advantage of this opportunity through its

national presence, quality systems, superior customer service and the dedication of its highly
trained arxd maotivated employees.
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Annexure A 119

Level 7, Building 2, 423 Pennant Hills Road
Pennant Hills, NSW 2120
www.neverfail. com,au
Tel: (02) 94834200

PRESS RELEASE

****************‘*tiﬁ****’****

Neverfail’s Founder Retires from Board

Geoff Tomlinson, Chairman of Neverfail SpringWater Ltd., announced today that Harry Hilliam,
the Company’s founder and CEO until early 1998 has resigned from the Board. He was Chairman
of the Board from 1995 until he stepped down in May 2002 when faced with health problems.

Harry is the visionary and eatrepreneur who led Neverfail from a small family start-up business in
1987 to the national and publicly-held company with over 150,000 customers that it is today.

Harry has always had the highest level of coromitment to customers, his integrity as a business
professional is highly regarded, and his leadership of this industry both in Australia and in the
global forum is legendary. |

Geoff Tomlinson advised that the Board would be attempting to fill the vacancy created by Harry’s
resignation over the next few moaths. “Harry has retired leaving the legacy of “commitment to
excellence” which he brought to the business. We are sorry to see Harry leave our Board,” said
Geoff, "“but we wish him good health and every success in his retirement.”
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Coca-Cola Amatil ASX Announcement
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COCA-COLA AMATIL ANNOUNCES TAKEOVER OFFER FOR
NEVERFAIL SPRINGWATER LIMITED

Sydney, 29 April 2003: Coca-Cola Amatil ("CCA”) today announced that it intends to make an off-market
takeover offer ("Offer”) for all the ordinary shares in Neverfail Springwater Limited (“Neverfail”) that it
does not already own. The Offer is $2.25 in cash for each Neverfail ordinary share, which gives an
enterprise value for Neverfail of approximately $280 million.

On 28 April 2003, CCA acquired a strategic stake in Neverfail of approximately 14.99% and is now
Neverfail's largest shareholder.

Mr Terry Davis, Managing Director of CCA, said, “we have previously stated our strategic priority is to
become a broader based beverage company. Water is one of the largest and fastest growing beverages in
Australia and is a major opportunity for the Company.”

“The acquisition of Neverfail, an Australian water business specialising in home and office delivery
(“HOD"), would represent an important step in realising this goal as it will complement our existing
packaged water business and double our annual water volume in Australia. Additionally, we will look to
extend the “Neverfail” brands to CCA's retail customer base, particularly in major foodstores, convenience
and petroleum outlets.”

The Offer price of $2.25 per ordinary share represents an attractive premium of:
. 22% to the closing price of Neverfail shares on 28 April 2003; and

. 31% over the volume weighted average sale price of Neverfail shares since 26 February 2003 (the
date Neverfail released its results for the six months ended 31 December 2002 and restated its
earnings guidance for the year ending 30 June 2003).

The Offer price represents a multiple of 20.6 times Neverfail's reported earnings per share (pre goodwill
amortisation) for the year ended 30 June 2002 which is an attractive premium to the average price earnings
multiple (pre goodwill amortisation) of the All Industrials (ex Financials)' and Small Industrials (ex
Financials)? of 16.6 times and 13.7 times, respectively, for the corresponding period.

It is intended that the acquisition of Neverfail will be funded from existing debt facilities available to CCA.
The acquisition, at the Offer price, is expected to:

. not dilute return on capital employed (pre goodwill amortisation) for the CCA Group in the first
full financial year after the acquisition;

. achieve its cost of capital (pre goodwill amortisation) within 3 to 4 years, assuming no
deterioration in current operating conditions; and

. be earnings per share accretive (pre goodwill amortisation) in the first full financial year after the
acquisition.

The HOD water market represents just over 20% of Australian water sales and Neverfail is the leading
player with approximately 65% share of HOD. CCA does not have an equivalent operation to Neverfail.
For the year ended 30 June 2002, Neverfail had revenue of $70 million, earnings before interest and tax (pre
goodwill amortisation) of $20.1 million, net profit after tax of $9.5 million and net profit after tax (pre
goodwill amortisation) of $10.4 million.

Note: 'All Industrials (ex Financials) includes all S&P/ASX 200 classified industrial stocks, excluding S&P/ASX 200 classified
financial stocks, researched by UBS Warburg. Calculated as at the close of trade on 28 April 2003.
2Small Industrials (ex Financials) includes all S&P/ASX 300 classified industrial stocks, excluding all S&P/ASX 100
classified industrial stocks and all S&P/ASX classified financial stocks, researched by UBS Warburg. Calculated as at the
close of trade on 28 April 2003.
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On completion of the acquisition of Neverfail, CCA intends to conduct a strategic review of Neverfail's
business and believes a number of additional revenue and cost saving opportunities may exist to create
additional value for CCA shareholders, including utilising:

. CCA’s considerable expertise in major retail account management and the retail environment to
extend the “Neverfail” brands into CCA's customer groups of major foodstores, convenience and
petroleum stores;

. CCA's scale in purchasing, procurement, manufacturing, logistics and information systems to
realise cost savings and apply best practice to Neverfail's business;

. CCA’s current head office and administration infrastructure to centralise similar activities
undertaken by Neverfail to realise cost savings; and

. Neverfail's water manufacturing capacity to supplement CCA’s existing water production,
particularly during key selling periods.

CCA and The Coca-Cola Company (“TCCC") have entered into discussions for TCCC, upon CCA acquiring
100% of Neverfail, to acquire the trademarks of Neverfail. While discussions are yet to be finalised and are
subject to TCCC Board approval, CCA expects TCCC's purchase price for the trademarks to be no more
than $45 million. CCA also expects that the ongoing periodic payments by CCA to TCCC under any
bottler’s agreement will be at a level that allows both CCA and TCCC to achieve similar returns on their
respective investments within similar timeframes. TCCC's participation is not a condition of the Offer.

The Offer is subject to a number of conditions, which are set out in full in annexure 1 to this announcement.
In summary they are:

. approval by the Foreign Investment Review Board;

. CCA and its associates having a relevant interest in at least 90% of the number of Neverfail
ordinary shares on issue;

. no orders being made by, or applications made to, a Public Authority which restrain or prohibit,
or otherwise materially adversely impact upon the Offer or the completion of any transaction
contemplated by the Offer;

. no prescribed occurrence in section 652C of the Corporations Act occurring in relation to
Neverfail; and

. no event, change or condition occurring, been announced, or becoming known to CCA which has
had, or is reasonably likely to have, a material adverse effect on the Neverfail Group.

CCA will host a presentation to analysts and media today at 2.30pm to discuss this Offer. This presentation
will be webcast (www.ccamatil.com) with all presentation material posted to CCA’s website. A replay of

the presentation, including the question and answer session, will be available on the website.
CCA has appointed UBS Warburg as financial adviser and Clayton Utz as legal adviser for this transaction.
Yours faithfully

D A Wylie
Secretary
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ANNEXURE 1

Conditions of the Offer

The Offer and any contract arising from acceptance of the Offer is subject to the fulfilment
of the following conditions:

(a)

Foreign Investment Review Board approval
One of the following occurring:

{i) The Treasurer of the Commonwealth of Australia advising CCA before the end of
the Offer Period to the effect that there are no objections to the Takeover Bid in
terms of the Federal Government's foreign investment policy; or

{i)  no order being made in relation to the Takeover Bid under section 22 of the
Foreign Acquisitions and Takeovers Act 1975 within a period of 40 days after
CCA has notified the Treasurer that it proposes to acquire shares under the
Takeover Bid, and no notice being given by the Treasurer to CCA during that
period to the effect that there are any such objections; or

(iii)  where an order is made under section 22 of the Foreign Acquisitions and
Takeovers Act 1975, a period of 90 days having expired after the order comes into
operation and no notice having been given by the Treasurer to CCA during that
period to the effect that there are any such objections.

Minimum acceptance condition

That during or at the end of the Offer Period, CCA and its associates have relevant
interests in that number of Neverfail Shares which is equal to at least 90% of the number
of Neverfail Shares then on issue.

No restraining orders
That between the Announcement Date and the end of the Offer Period:

(i)  there is not in effect any preliminary or final decision, order or decree issued by a
Public Authority; or

(ii)  no application is made to any Public Authority (other than by any member of the
CCA Group), or action or investigation is announced, threatened or commenced
by a Public Authority in consequence of or in connection with the Offer,

(other than a determination by ASIC or the Takeovers Panel in exercise of the
powers and discretions conferred by the Corporations Act) which restrains or
prohibits (or if granted could restrain or prohibit), or otherwise materially
adversely impacts upon, the making of the Offer or the completion of any
transaction contemplated by the Offer (whether subject to condition or not) or the
rights of CCA in respect of Neverfail and the Neverfail Shares to be acquired under
the Offer, or requires the divestiture by CCA of any Neverfail Shares, or the
divestiture of any assets of the Neverfail Group or of the CCA Group or otherwise.

"Public Authority" means any government or any governmental, semi-governmental,
administrative, statutory or judicial entity, authority or agency, whether in Australia or
elsewhere, including any self-regulatory organisation established under statute or any
stock exchange.
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Prescribed Occurrences

That between the Announcement Date and the end of the Offer Period, no Prescribed
Occurrence occurs, other than an issue of Neverfail Shares on the exercise of Neverfail Options.

"Prescribed Occurrence” means any of the following events occurs:
(i) Neverfail converts all or any of its shares into a larger or smaller number of shares;
{iii  Neverfail or a subsidiary of Neverfail resolves to reduce its share capital in any
way,
(iii)  Neverfail or a subsidiary of Neverfail:
A, enters into a buy-back agreement; or

B. resolves to approve the terms of a buy-back agreement under section
257C(1) or section 257D(1) of the Corporations Act;

(iv) Neverfail or a subsidiary of Neverfail issues shares, or grants an option over its
shares or agrees to make such an issue or grant such an option;

(v)  Neverfail or a subsidiary of Neverfail issues, or agrees to issue, convertible notes;

(vi) Neverfail or a subsidiary of Neverfail disposes, or agrees to dispose, of the whole,
or a substantial part, of its business or property;

(vii) Neverfail or a subsidiary of Neverfail charges, or agrees to charge, the whole,
or a substantial part, of its business or property;

(viii) Neverfail or a subsidiary of Neverfail resolves that it be wound up;

(ix) The appointment of a liquidator or provisional liquidator of Neverfail
or of a subsidiary of Neverfail;

(x)  the making of an order by a court for the winding up of Neverfail
or of a subsidiary of Neverfail;

(xi)  an administrator of Neverfail, or of a subsidiary of Neverfail, being appointed
under section 436A, 4368 or 436C of the Corporations Act;

(xii) Neverfail or a subsidiary of Neverfail executing a deed of company arrangement; or

(xiii) the appointment of a receiver, or a receiver and manager, in relation to the whole,
or a substantial part, of the property of Neverfail or of a subsidiary of Neverfail.

Material adverse change to Neverfail

Before the end of the Offer Period there not having occurred, been announced

or becoming known to CCA (whether or not becoming public) any event, change

or condition which has had, or is reasonably likely to have, a material adverse effect
on the operations, assets or liabilities, material contracts (taken as a whole), business
or condition (financial or otherwise), profitability or prospects of the Neverfail Group
{taken as a whole) since 30 June 2002 (except for such events, changes or conditions
disclosed in public filings by Neverfail or any of its subsidiaries prior to 29 April 2003)
and any event, change or condition that may arise as a consequence of the announcement
or consummation of the Offer), including where it becomes known to CCA that
information publicly filed by Neverfail or any of its subsidiaries, is or is likely to be
incomplete, incorrect or untrue or misleading.
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Annexure C

All Industrials (ex Financials) and Small Industrials (ex Financials)
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Annexure C

All Industrials (ex Financials) multiples

All Industrials (ex Financials) multiples are prepared by UBS Warburg Australia Equities Limited
and are calculated as at the close of trade on 28 April 2003.

All Industrials (ex Financials) includes all S&P/ASX 200 classified industrial stocks, excluding S&P/ASX
200 classified financial stocks, researched by UBS Warburg Australia Equities Limited. The multiples

are calculated as the total market capitalisation for all stocks divided by the total net profit after tax

(pre goodwill amortisation and, depending on the stock, pre abnormal items) for all stocks.

The multiples reflect the actual year end for each company.

The stocks included are:

Adelaide Brighton
Adsteam Marine
Austereo Group

Australian Gas Light Company (The)

Australian Infrastructure Fund
Aristocrat Leisure

AlintaGas

Amcor

Ansell

Australian Pipeline Trust
APN News & Media
Austal

AWB

Billabong International
Baycorp Advantage
Brambles Industries
Burswood

Boral

Burns, Philp & Company
Bristile

Coca-Cola Amatil
Collection House
Coles Myer

Coates Hire

Cochlear

Computershare

Crane Group

CSL

CSR

Corporate Express Australia
David Jones

Downer EDI

DCA Group

Energy Developments
Envestra

Futuris Corporation
Foster's Group
Foodland Associated
Fairfax (John) Holdings
GasNet Australia Trust
Gribbles Group (The)
Gunns

GWA International
Hills Motorway Group

HPAL

Healthscope

Harvey Norman Holdings
Infomedia

ION

IRESS Market Technology
James Hardie Industries
Jupiters

KAZ Group

Leighton Holdings

Lion Nathan

Macquarie Airports

Mayne Group

Macquarie Communications
Infrastructure Group
McGuigan Simeon Wines
MIA Group

Macquarie Infrastructure Group
Miller's Retail

News Corporation (The)
National Foods

Nufarm

OPSM Group

Orica

Pacifica Group

Publishing & Broadcasting
Pacific Hydro

PMP

Pan Pharmaceuticals
Paperlinx

Patrick Corporation
Qantas Airways
Ramsay Health Care
Ridley Corporation
Rinker Group

Southern Cross Broadcasting
(Australia)

Seven Network

Sonic Healthcare

Sigma Company

SMS Management & Technology
SPC Ardmona

Spotless Group
Southcorp

TAB

Tabcorp Holdings
Transurban Group
Telecom Corporation of
New Zealand

Tempo Services

Ten Network Holdings
Telstra Corporation

Toll Holdings
Transfield Services
United Energy
United Group
UNITAB

Village Roadshow
Vision Systems
West Australian Newspapers
Holdings
Wesfarmers
Woolworths
Wattyl

These stocks represent 98.6% of S&P/ASX All Industrials (ex Financials) Index by market capitalisation.
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Small Industrials (ex Financials) multiples

Small Industrials {ex Financials) multiples are prepared by UBS Warburg Australia Equities Limited
and are calculated as at the close of trade on 28 April 2003.

Small Industrials {ex Financials) includes all S&P/ASX 300 classified industrial stocks, excluding all
S&P/ASX 100 classified industrial stocks and all S&P/ASX classified financial stocks, researched by UBS
Warburg Australia Equities Limited. The multiples are calculated as the total market capitalisation for all
stocks divided by the total net profit after tax (pre goodwill amortisation and, depending on the stock,

pre abnormal items) for all stocks.

The multiples reflect the actual year end for each company.

The stocks included are:

Australian Agricultural Company GasNet Australia Trust

Adelaide Brighton
Austereo Group

Australian Infrastructure Fund

AlintaGas
Altium
Australian Pipeline Trust

Austal

Baycorp Advantage
Burswood

Burns, Philp & Company
Bristile

Brazin

Collection House

Coates Hire

Citect Corporation
Corporate Express Australia
David Jones

Downer EDI

DCA Group

Energy Developments

Envestra
Freedom Group

Gribbles Group (The)
GWA International

Hills Motorway Group
HPAL

Healthscope

Hutchison Telecommunications
(Australia)

Infomedia

ION

IRESS Market Technology
KAZ Group

McGuigan Simeon Wines
MIA Group

Miller's Retail

Neverfail Springwater
Nufarm

OPSM Group

Pacifica Group

Pacific Hydro

PMP

Programmed Maintenance Services

Prime Television
Queensland Cotton Holdings

Ramsay Health Care

Ridley Corporation
Southern Cross Broadcasting
(Australia)

Stargames

Sigma Company

Skilled Engineering

Silex Systems

SMS Management & Technology
SPC Ardmona

Spotless Group

Tempo Services

Transfield Services

United Energy

United Group

UNITAB

Village Roadshow

Vision Systems

Wattyl

Adsteam Marine

Crane Group

Macquarie Communications
Infrastructure Group

Pan Pharmaceuticals

Symex Holdings

These stocks represent 87.0% of S&P/ASX Small Industrials (ex Financials) Index by market capitalisation.






THIS DOCUMENT IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION.
IFYOU ARE IN ANY DOUBT AS TO HOW TO DEAL WITH THIS DOCUMENT, YOU SHOULD
CONSULT YOUR BROKER OR YOUR LEGAL, FINANCIAL OR OTHER PROFESSIONAL ADVISER.

Acceptance and Transfer Form

(Terms used in this Acceptance and Transfer Form are defined in the Bidder’s Statement)

OFFER BY COCA-COLA AMATIL LIMITED ABN 26 004 139 397 (“CCA™)
for all your ordinary shares in
NEVERFAIL SPRINGWATER LIMITED ABN 43 003 559 519 (“NEVERFAIL”)

L et
MR AB SAMPLE Securityholder Reference Number (SRN)

MRS CD SAMPLE I 1234567890
123 SAMPLE STREET
SAMPLEVILLE ABC 1234

Sub-register Number of Neverfail Shares held Consideration due
($2.25 per Neverfail Share)

Please note that you may only accept the Offer in respect of ALL of your Neverfail Shares.

If your Neverfail Shares are held in a CHESS Holding you should not accept the Offer using this form. To accept
the Offer if your Neverfail Shares are held in a CHESS Holding please instruct your stockbroker or CHESS
Controlling Participant to initiate acceptances of the Offer on your behalf.

To accept the Offer if your Neverfail Shares are held in an Issuer Sponsored Holding you should sign and date this
form and return it, along with the other necessary documents (refer to the back of this form and section 5.11 of the
Bidder’s Statement), so that it is received no later than 7.00 pm (Sydney time) on 13 June 2003, unless the Offer
Period is extended. A pre-paid envelope is provided for this purpose. Overseas residents cannot use pre-paid post, and
should instead return this form by airmail.

To CCA: I/we accept the Offer made by CCA in respect of all my/our Neverfail Shares, being the shares set out above,
on the terms and conditions of the Offer. I/we agree to be bound by the terms and conditions of the Offer and transfer
all my/our Neverfail Shares to CCA for the consideration per Neverfail Share specified above.

Please ensure that your Acceptance and Transfer Form has been properly signed (full instructions overleaf). In the case of individual
or joint shareholders, each shareholder must sign. Companies must execute this form in any way allowed by law and any applicable
constitution.

Please provide your telephone number so that you may be contacted if necessary:

Phone: (. ) Date: / /.

Individual or Shareholder 1 Shareholder 2 Shareholder 3

Sole Director and Sole Company Director Director/Company Secretary
Secretary

We, CCA ,through our agent, Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited, collect personal information when you submit this form
to process your acceptance of the Offer to purchase your Neverfail Shares and to administer the purchase and transfer of those
shares. In order to do these things, we usually disclose, and by executing this form you consent to us disclosing, your personal
information to the following organisations (which may be located outside Australia): our related bodies corporate; our legal,
financial and professional advisors; and organisations to which we outsource our functions and activities (such as our mailing
house). If your personal information is not provided to us, we will be unable to do these things. In most cases, you can gain access
to your personal information on request

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION ON HOW TO ACCEPT THIS OFFER PLEASE SEE REVERSE

004856 - V2



HOW TO ACCEPT THIS OFFER
Read the Bidder’s Statement and this form carefully and decide whether to accept the Offer for your Neverfail Shares.

To accept the Offer if your Neverfail Shares are held in an Issuer Sponsored Holding then, simply complete and return your
Acceptance and Transfer Form so that it is received no later than 7.00 pm (Sydney time) on 13 June 2003, unless the Offer
Period is extended. A pre-paid envelope is provided for this purpose. Overseas residents cannot use pre-paid post, and should
instead return this form by airmail.

To accept the Offer if your Neverfail Shares are held in CHESS Holdings, please instruct your stockbroker or CHESS Controlling
Participant to initiate acceptances of the Offer on your behalf.

HOW TO COMPLETE YOUR ACCEPTANCE AND TRANSFER FORM
Check your details are correct

If you have already sold all of your Neverfail Shares shown here, do not keep or return this form. Instead, please send it to the Broker
or Controlling Participant who sold them for you or the transferee.

If you have already sold some of your Neverfail Shares recently, or if you have purchased further Neverfail Shares recently, please
alter the number of your Neverfail Shares shown overleaf to show that number of Neverfail Shares now held by you and write below
the name and address of the broker or controlling participant who acted for you:

Broker s/Controlling Participant’s Name:

Address:

Telephone:

If your Neverfail Shares consist of two or more separate parcels for the purposes of section 653B of the Act, then this Offer consists
of separate corresponding offers in relation to the respective separate parcels. To accept any of those offers that relate to Neverfail
Shares held in an Issuer Sponsored Holding you must give a notice indicating that your Neverfail Shares consist of a separate parcel
and indicate on this form the number of Neverfail Shares in the separate parcel to which the acceptance relates (refer to Section 5.10(c)
of the Bidder’s Staternent).

Sign and return the form
Please ensure that your Acceptance and Transfer Form has been properly signed:

. All joint holders must sign.

. Companies must sign in accordance with their constitution. Two directors must sign or director and secretary, or sole director
and sole secretary. The common seal must also be affixed if required by the constitution.

. If the document is signed by an attorney, a certified copy of the power of attorney must accompany the form.

. For a deceased estate, the executors or administrator must sign and enclose a certified copy of the probate or letter of
administration.

. For a trust or partnership the signatory must produce the trust instrument, partnership agreement or other authority (or a certified
copy of it) to act in that capacity acceptable to CCA.

Note: A certified copy of a document is a photocopy that has been attested as a true copy of the original by a person authorised to do
so in your State or Territory.

You can return your Acceptance and Transfer Form in the pre-paid envelope provided or deliver it:

BY HAND DELIVERY TO: OR BY MAIL TO:

Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited,
Level 3, 60 Carrington Street GPO Box 7115

Sydney, New South Wales, 2000 Sydney, New South Wales, 2001

Your Acceptance and Transfer Form must be received (at this address or at the Post Office box) by 7.00 pm (Sydney time) on
13 June 2003, unless the Offer Period is extended.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION

If you have any questions about the Offer or how to accept it, please call the shareholder information line on 1300 135 842 at
local rates from within Australia or +61 3 9615 5970 from outside Australia. As required by the Corporations Act 2001, all
calls to these numbers will be recorded.

If you need help in deciding what to do, contact your broker or legal, financial or other professional advisor.

Coca-Cola Amatil Limited ABN 26 004 139 397 of 71 Macquarie Street, Sydney, NSW 2000, Australia is incorporated in Victoria
under the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth)

Neverfail Springwater Limited ABN 43 003 559 519 of Level 7, 20 Loftus Street, Sydney, NSW 2000, Australia is incorporated in
New South Wales under the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth)
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